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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2020
OR

0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.

For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-33508
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Delaware 20-1677033
(State or other jurisdiction of (L.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
1465 North Scottsdale Road, Suite 400
Scottsdale, AZ 85257
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(602) 850-5000
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act;

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share LLNW Nasdaq

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(8232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes No OO
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging

growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer O Smaller Reporting Company O
Emerging Growth Company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [0 No
The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, as of July 13, 2020: 122,072,457 shares.




Table of Contents

LIMELIGHT NETWORKS, INC.
FORM 10-Q
Quarterly Period Ended June 30, 2020
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.

Item 2.
Item 3.
Item 4.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.
Item 1A.
Item 2.
Item 3.
Item 4.
Item 5.
Item 6.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

RISK FACTORS

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

OTHER INFORMATION

EXHIBITS

SIGNATURES

Page

98]

BNk le
o N o o v IN o v I

Bl REIEREEREBES
[op I (O3 I AN E AN DA LN = (=)



Table of Contents

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statement

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, other than statements of historical
fact, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the words “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,”
“intend,” “could,” “estimate,” or “continue,” and similar expressions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations
and projections about future events, as well as trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term
and long-term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These statements include, among other things:

*  our beliefs regarding delivery traffic growth trends and demand for digital content and edge services;

*  our expectations regarding revenue, costs, expenses, gross margin, non-GAAP earnings per share, Adjusted EBITDA and capital
expenditures;

*  our plans regarding investing in our content delivery network, as well as other products and technologies;

* our beliefs regarding the growth of, and competition within, the content delivery industry;

* our beliefs regarding the growth of our business and how that impacts our liquidity and capital resources requirements;

*  our expectations regarding headcount;

+  the impact of certain new accounting standards and guidance as well as the time and cost of continued compliance with existing rules and
standards;

» our plans with respect to investments in marketable securities;

*  our expectations and strategies regarding acquisitions;

*  our estimations regarding taxes and belief regarding our tax reserves;

* our beliefs regarding the use of Non-GAAP financial measures;

»  our approach to identifying, attracting and keeping new and existing customers, as well as our expectations regarding customer turnover;

» the sufficiency of and our sources of funding;

*  our beliefs regarding our interest rate risk;

*  our beliefs regarding inflation risks;

*  our beliefs regarding expense and productivity of and competition for our sales force;

*  our beliefs regarding the significance of our large customers;

*  our beliefs regarding the impact of health epidemics and pandemics, including the recent outbreak of COVID-19, on our current and potential
customers; and

*  our beliefs regarding the impact of health epidemics and pandemics, including the recent outbreak of COVID-19, on our balance sheet,
financial condition, and results of operations.

The risks included here are not exhaustive. Other sections of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may include additional factors which could
adversely affect our business and financial performance. Also, these forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, including those described under the caption “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those discussed in
other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

In addition, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our
management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, the future events and trends discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may not occur and actual results could differ materially and
adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements contained herein are based on our current expectations and assumptions and on information available as of the
date of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to these
forward-looking statements, except as required by law. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements.

"o

Unless expressly indicated or the context requires otherwise, the terms "Limelight," "we," "us," and "our" in this document refer to Limelight
Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and, where appropriate, its wholly owned subsidiaries. All information is presented in thousands, except per share
amounts, customer count, headcount and where specifically noted.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net

Income taxes receivable

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right of use assets
Marketable securities, less current portion
Deferred income taxes
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

Limelight Networks, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Operating lease liability obligations
Income taxes payable
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Operating lease liability obligations, less current portion

Deferred income taxes

Deferred revenue, less current portion
Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 7,500 shares authorized; no shares issued

and outstanding

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 121,692 and 118,368 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
(Unaudited)
18,200 $ 18,335
45,246 34,476
68 82
10,241 9,920
73,755 62,813
48,908 46,136
11,449 12,842
40 40
1,328 1,319
77,113 77,102
7,915 9,117
220,508 $ 209,369
17,004 $ 12,020
934 976
2,390 2,056
169 178
17,028 13,398
37,525 28,628
12,316 13,488
283 239
265 161
304 316
50,693 42,832
122 118
541,363 530,285
(10,031) (9,210)
(361,639) (354,656)
169,815 166,537
220,508 $ 209,369

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue
Cost of revenue:
Cost of services
Depreciation — network
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Sales and marketing
Research and development
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Interest income
Other, net
Total other (expense) income
Loss before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net loss

Net loss per share:
Basic

Diluted

Limelight Networks, Inc.

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

Weighted average shares used in per share calculation:

Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

$ 58,546 $ 45,904 115,558 $ 89,184
29,389 22,769 60,502 45,710

5,360 4,628 10,510 8,944

34,749 27,397 71,012 54,654

23,797 18,507 44,546 34,530

8,187 8,340 16,069 15,875

10,929 10,994 22,823 21,966

5,572 6,013 11,189 11,915

323 127 665 372

25,011 25,474 50,746 50,128
(1,214) (6,967) (6,200) (15,598)
(71) (10) (82) (20)

6 110 31 321
(312) (70) (421) (76)

(377) 30 (472) 225

(1,591) (6,937) (6,672) (15,373)

136 255 311 378

$ (1L,727)  $ (7,192) (6,983) $  (15,751)
$ (0.01) (0.06) (0.06) (0.14)
$ (0.01) $ (0.06) (0.06) $ (0.14)
120,230 115,275 119,597 114,843
120,230 115,275 119,597 114,843
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Net loss

Limelight Networks, Inc.
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Unrealized gain on investments

Foreign currency translation (loss) gain
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive loss

2020 2019 2020 2019
$ (1,727) $ (7,192) (6983) $  (15751)
— 8 — 37
518 166 (821) 513
518 174 (821) 550
$ (1,209) $ (7,018) (7,804) $  (15,201)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Limelight Networks, Inc.
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(In thousands)

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2020

Balance March 31, 2020
Net loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of taxes

Exercise of common stock options
Vesting of restricted stock units

Restricted stock units surrendered in lieu
of withholding taxes

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan

Share-based compensation

Balance June 30, 2020

Common Stock

Additional Paid-In Accumulated Other

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2019

Balance March 31, 2019
Net loss

Change in unrealized loss on available-
for-sale investments, net of taxes

Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of taxes

Vesting of restricted stock units

Restricted stock units surrendered in lieu
of withholding taxes

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan

Share-based compensation

Balance June 30, 2019

Shares Amount Capital Comprehensive Loss Accumulated Deficit Total

119,642 $ 120 $ 534,205 $ (10,549) $ (359,912) $ 163,864
— — — — (1,727) (1,727)

— — — 518 — 518
1,162 2,871 — — 2,872
869 1 6 — — 7
(281) — (1,430) — — (1,430)
300 — 1,074 — — 1,074

— _ 4,637 — — 4,637
121,692  $ 122 $ 541,363 $ (10,031) $ (361,639) $ 169,815

Common Stock
Additional Paid-In Accumulated Other
Shares Amount Capital Comprehensive Loss Accumulated Deficit Total

114,874  $ 115 $ 516,251 $ (9,657) $ (347,171) $ 159,538
— — — — (7,192) (7,192)

— — — 8 — 8

— — — 166 — 166

638 1 (1) — — —
(201) — (619) — — (619)
449 — 1,095 — — 1,095

— — 3,649 — — 3,649
115760 $ 116 $ 520,375 $ (9,483) $ (354,363) $ 156,645
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For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Common Stock

Additional Paid-In

Accumulated Other

Balance December 31, 2019
Net loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of taxes

Exercise of common stock options
Vesting of restricted stock units

Restricted stock units surrendered in lieu
of withholding taxes

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan

Share-based compensation

Balance June 30, 2020

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

Balance December 31, 2018
Net loss

Change in unrealized loss on available-for-
sale investments, net of taxes

Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of taxes

Exercise of common stock options
Vesting of restricted stock units

Restricted stock units surrendered in lieu
of withholding taxes

Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan

Share-based compensation
Balance June 30, 2019

Shares Amount Capital Comprehensive Loss Accumulated Deficit Total
118,368 $ 118 $ 530,285 (9,210) $ (354,656) 166,537
— — — — (6,983) (6,983)
_ _ — (821) — (821)
1,860 2 5,009 — — 5,011
1,745 2 5 — — 7
(581) — (2,945) — — (2,945)
300 — 1,074 — — 1,074
— — 7,935 — — 7,935
121,692 $ 122 $ 541,363 (10,031) $ (361,639) 169,815
Common Stock
Additional Paid-In Accumulated Other
Shares Amount Capital Comprehensive Loss Accumulated Deficit Total
114,246 114 513,682 (10,033) (338,612) 165,151
— — — — (15,751) (15,751)
— — — 37 — 37
— — — 513 — 513
5 — 8 — — 8
1,566 2 @) — — —
(506) — (1,513) — — (1,513)
449 — 1,095 — — 1,095
— — 7,105 — — 7,105
115,760 116 520,375 (9,483) (354,363) 156,645

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited consolidated financial statements.



Table of Contents

Limelight Networks, Inc.
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
Foreign currency remeasurement gain
Deferred income taxes
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Accounts receivable charges
Amortization of premium on marketable securities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income taxes receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Deferred revenue
Income taxes payable
Payments related to litigation, net
Other long term liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securities
Sale and maturities of marketable securities
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Payments of employee tax withholdings related to restricted stock vesting
Proceeds from employee stock plans
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for interest

Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net of refunds

(In thousands)

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019
6,983) $ (15,751)
11,175 9,316
10,315 7,105

(140) (125)
15 31

— (51)

313 694

— 20
(11,083) (5,751)
(447) 108
13 @)
1,747 (3,422)
6,937 6,473
63 (445)

2 143

= (3,040)

(11) (152)
11,916 (4,849)
= (10,279)

— 31,153
(14,948) (16,474)
— 46
(14,948) 4,446
(2,945) (1,513)
6,092 1,103
3,147 (410)
(250) 128
(135) (685)
18,335 25,383
18200 $ 24,698
82 $ 20

261 $ 213

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Limelight Networks, Inc.
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2020

1. Nature of Business

Limelight Networks Inc., a provider of digital content delivery, online video delivery, cloud security, edge computing and cloud storage services,
empowers customers to provide exceptional digital experiences. Limelight’s edge services platform includes a globally distributed, high performance
private network, intelligent software, and expert support services that enable current and future workflows.

We were incorporated in Delaware in 2003, and have operated in the Phoenix metropolitan area since 2001 and elsewhere throughout the United
States since 2003. We began international operations in 2004.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. They
do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) for complete financial
statements. Such interim financial information is unaudited but reflects all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for the fair
presentation of the interim periods presented and of a normal recurring nature. This quarterly report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with our
audited financial statements and footnotes included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. All information is
presented in thousands, except per share amounts and where specifically noted.

The consolidated financial statements include accounts of Limelight and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated. In addition, certain other reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year
presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
judgments, assumptions, and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results and
outcomes may differ from those estimates. The results of operations presented in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2020, or for any future periods.

Recent Accounting Standards
Adopted Accounting Standards

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-13, which requires
measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held. The standard is to be applied through a cumulative-effect adjustment to
retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. We adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2020.
The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures and there was no cumulative-
effect adjustment required.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, which simplifies the accounting for goodwill impairment. The updated guidance eliminates Step 2 of
the impairment test, which requires entities to calculate the implied fair value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge. Instead, entities will
record an impairment charge based on the excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair value, determined in Step 1. We adopted this guidance
effective January 1, 2020, using a prospective approach. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, which removes, modifies and adds to the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in
Topic 820. The amendments on changes in unrealized gains and losses, the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop
Level 3 fair value measurements, and the narrative description of measurement uncertainty should be applied prospectively for only the most recent interim
or annual period presented in the initial fiscal year of adoption. All other amendments should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented upon their
effective date. An entity is permitted to early adopt any removed or modified disclosures upon issuance of this updated guidance and delay adoption of the
additional disclosures until their effective date. We adopted this guidance effective January

10
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1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, to help entities evaluate the accounting for fees paid by a customer in a cloud computing arrangement
(hosting arrangement) by providing guidance for determining when the arrangement includes a software license. The amendments align the requirements
for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation
costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal use software license). The accounting for the
service element of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by the amendments. We adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2020.
The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

For contracts that contain minimum commitments over the contractual term, we estimate an amount of variable consideration by using either the
expected value method or the most likely amount method. We include estimates of variable consideration in revenue only when we have a high degree of
confidence that revenue will not be reversed in a subsequent reporting period. We believe that the expected value method is the most appropriate estimate
of the amount of variable consideration. These customers have entered into contracts with contract terms generally from one to four years. As of June 30,
2020, we have approximately $4,372 of remaining unsatisfied performance obligations. We recognized revenue of approximately $1,943 and $2,500,
respectively, during the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, related to these types of contracts with our customers. During the six months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019, we recognized approximately $4,097 and $5,200, respectively. We expect to recognize approximately 60% of the remaining
unsatisfied performance obligations in 2020, approximately 34% in 2021, and approximately 6% in 2022.

3. Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivable, net include:

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
Accounts receivable $ 46254 % 35,619
Less: credit allowance (170) (170)
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (838) (973)
Total accounts receivable, net $ 45246 % 34,476

All trade receivables are reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their amortized cost adjusted for any write-offs and net of allowances for
credit losses. We maintain an allowance for credit losses, which represents an estimate of expected losses of our receivables considering current market
conditions and estimates for supportable forecasts when appropriate. The estimate is a result of our ongoing assessments and evaluations of collectability,
historical loss experience, and future expectations in estimating credit losses for our trade receivables. For trade receivables, we apply a reserve percentage
to the specific age of the receivable to estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts. The reserve percentages are determined based on our historical write-
off experience. Determination of the proper amount of allowance requires management to exercise judgment about the timing, frequency and severity of
potential credit losses that could materially affect the provision for credit losses and, as a result, net earnings. The allowance takes into consideration
numerous quantitative and qualitative factors that include receivable type, historical loss experience, delinquency trends, collection experience, current
economic conditions, estimates for supportable forecasts, when appropriate, and credit risk characteristics.

We evaluate the credit risk of the customer when extending credit based on a combination of various financial and qualitative factors that may affect
our customers’ ability to pay. These factors may include the customer’s financial condition, past payment experience, and credit bureau information.

The following is a roll-forward of the allowances for doubtful accounts related to trade accounts receivable for the six months ended June 30, 2020:

11
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Six Months Ended
June 30, 2020

Beginning of period 973
Provision for credit losses 313
Write-offs (448)

End of period 838

4. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include:

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
Prepaid bandwidth and backbone 1,553 1,717
VAT receivable 3,096 3,068
Prepaid expenses and insurance 2,208 1,685
Vendor deposits and other 3,384 3,450
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 10,241  $ 9,920
5. Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment, net include:
June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
Network equipment $ 132,298 $ 126,975
Computer equipment and software 7,307 7,603
Furniture and fixtures 1,893 1,906
Leasehold improvements 7,925 7,888
Other equipment 31 54
Total property and equipment 149,454 144,426
Less: accumulated depreciation (100,546) (98,290)
Total property and equipment, net $ 48,908 $ 46,136

Cost of revenue depreciation expense related to property and equipment was approximately $5,360 and $4,628, respectively, for the three months
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, cost of revenue depreciation expense related to
property and equipment was approximately $10,510 and $8,944, respectively.

Operating expense depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was approximately $323 and $127, respectively, for the
three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, operating expense depreciation
and amortization expense related to property and equipment was approximately $665 and $372, respectively.

6. Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities include:

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
Accrued compensation and benefits $ 8,832 $ 4,918
Accrued cost of revenue 4,722 4,176
Other accrued expenses 3,474 4,304
Total other current liabilities $ 17,028  $ 13,398

12
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7. Line of Credit

In April 2020, we entered into a Fifth Amendment (Fifth Amendment) to the Loan and Security Agreement (the Credit Agreement) with Silicon
Valley Bank (SVB) originally entered into in November 2015. Under the Fifth Amendment, the maximum principal commitment amount remained at
$20,000. Our borrowing capacity is the lesser of the commitment amount or 80% of eligible accounts receivable. All outstanding borrowings owed under
the Credit Agreement become due and payable no later than the extended final maturity date of November 2, 2022.

As of June 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings, and we had availability under the Credit Agreement of
approximately $20,000.

As of June 30, 2020, borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at the current prime rate minus 0.25%. In the event of default,
obligations shall bear interest at a rate per annum that is 3% above the then applicable rate.

Amendment fees and other commitment fees are included in interest expense. During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, there was
no interest expense, and fees expense and amortization was $71 and $10, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, there was no
interest expense, and fees expense and amortization was $82 and $20, respectively.

Any borrowings are secured by essentially all of our domestic personal property, with a negative pledge on intellectual property. SVB’s security
interest in our foreign subsidiaries is limited to 65% of the voting stock of each such foreign subsidiary.

We are required to maintain an Adjusted Quick Ratio of at least 1.0 to 1.0. We are also subject to certain customary limitations on our ability to,
among other things, incur debt, grant liens, make acquisitions and other investments, make certain restricted payments such as dividends, dispose of assets
or undergo a change in control. As of June 30, 2020, we were in compliance with our covenant under the Credit Agreement.

8. Contingencies
Legal Matters

We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, arising in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome
of these claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not believe the outcome of any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows and accordingly, no legal contingencies were accrued as of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019. Litigation relating to the content delivery services industry is not uncommon, and we are, and from time to time have been, subject to
such litigation. No assurances can be given with respect to the extent or outcome of any such litigation in the future.

Taxes

We are subject to indirect taxation in various states and foreign jurisdictions. Laws and regulations that apply to communications and commerce
conducted over the Internet are becoming more prevalent, both in the United States and internationally, and may impose additional burdens on us
conducting business online or providing Internet-related services. Increased regulation could negatively affect our business directly, as well as the
businesses of our customers, which could reduce their demand for our services. For example, tax authorities in various states and abroad may impose taxes
on the Internet-related revenue we generate based on regulations currently being applied to similar but not directly comparable industries.

There are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. In addition, domestic and international taxation
laws are subject to change. In the future, we may come under audit, which could result in changes to our tax estimates. We believe we maintain adequate
tax reserves, that are not material in amount, to offset potential liabilities that may arise upon audit. Although we believe our tax estimates and associated
reserves are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation could be materially different than the amounts established for tax
contingencies. To the extent these estimates ultimately prove to be inaccurate, the associated reserves would be adjusted, resulting in the recording of a
benefit or expense in the period in which a change in estimate or a final determination is made.

9. Net Loss per Share

We calculate basic and diluted loss per weighted average share. We use the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during
the period for the computation of basic loss per share. Diluted loss per share include the
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dilutive effect of all potentially dilutive common stock, including awards granted under our equity incentive compensation plans in the weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding.

The following table sets forth the components used in the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated (in thousands,
except per share data):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Net loss $ (1,727) $ (7,192) $ (6,983) $ (15,751)
Basic weighted average outstanding shares of common stock 120,230 115,275 119,597 114,843
Basic weighted average outstanding shares of common stock 120,230 115,275 119,597 114,843
Dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stock units, and other equity
incentive plans — — — —
Diluted weighted average outstanding shares of common stock 120,230 115,275 119,597 114,843
Basic net loss per share $ 0.01) $ (0.06) $ (0.06) $ (0.14)
Diluted net loss per share: $ (0.01) $ (0.06) $ (0.06) $ (0.14)

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, the following potentially dilutive common stock, including awards granted
under our equity incentive compensation plans were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because including them would have been
anti-dilutive.

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Employee stock purchase plan 68 128 68 128
Stock options 6,510 2,425 6,232 2,243
Restricted stock units 1,764 779 1,846 890
8,342 3,332 8,146 3,261

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

On March 14, 2017, our board of directors authorized a $25,000 share repurchase program. Any shares repurchased under this program will be
canceled and returned to authorized but unissued status. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, we did not repurchase any shares under the
repurchase program. As of June 30, 2020, there remained $21,200 under this share repurchase program.

Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan

We established the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2007 Plan, which allows for the grant of equity, including stock options and restricted stock unit
awards. In June 2016, our stockholders approved the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, or the Restated 2007 Plan, which amended and
restated the 2007 Plan. Approval of the Restated 2007 Plan replaced the terms and conditions of the 2007 Plan with the terms and conditions of the
Restated 2007 Plan and extended the term of the plan to April 2026. There was no increase in the aggregate amount of shares available for issuance. The
total number of shares authorized for issuance under the Restated 2007 Plan as of June 30, 2020 was approximately 10,525.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2013, our stockholders approved our 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), authorizing the issuance of 4,000 shares. In May 2019, our
stockholders approved the adoption of Amendment 1 to the ESPP. Amendment 1 increased the number of shares authorized to 9,000 shares (an increase of
5,000 shares) and amended the maximum number of shares of common stock that an eligible employee may be permitted to purchase during each offering
period to be 5 shares. The ESPP allows participants to purchase our common stock at a 15% discount of the lower of the beginning or end of the offering
period using the closing price on that day. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we issued 300 shares under the ESPP.
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Total cash proceeds from the purchase of shares under the ESPP was approximately $1,075. As of June 30, 2020, shares reserved for issuance to employees
under this plan totaled 3,940, and we held employee contributions of $299 (included in other current liabilities) for future purchases under the ESPP.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors has authorized the issuance of up to 7,500 shares of preferred stock at June 30, 2020. The preferred stock may be issued in one
or more series pursuant to a resolution or resolutions providing for such issuance duly adopted by the board of directors. As of June 30, 2020, the board of
directors had not adopted any resolutions for the issuance of preferred stock.

11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Changes in the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, for the six months ended June 30, 2020, was as follows:

Foreign
Currency
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ (9,210)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (821)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
loss _
Net current period other comprehensive loss (821)
Balance, June 30, 2020 $ (10,031)

12. Share-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes the components of share-based compensation expense included in our consolidated statements of operations:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Share-based compensation expense by type:

Stock options $ 1,071  $ 1,044 $ 2,119 $ 2,086

Restricted stock units 3,819 2,435 7,700 4,685

ESPP 361 170 496 334
Total share-based compensation expense $ 5251 $ 3,649 $ 10,315 $ 7,105
Share-based compensation expense:

Cost of services $ 792 $ 377 $ 1,555 $ 788

General and administrative expense 2,257 2,140 4,498 4,234

Sales and marketing expense 1,322 598 2,550 1,082

Research and development expense 880 534 1,712 1,001
Total share-based compensation expense $ 5251 $ 3,649 $ 10,315  $ 7,105

Unrecognized share-based compensation expense totaled approximately $21,132 at June 30, 2020, of which $6,871 related to stock options and
$14,261 related to restricted stock units. We currently expect to recognize share-based compensation expense of $6,446 during the remainder of 2020,
$8,964 in 2021 and the remainder thereafter based on scheduled vesting of the stock options and restricted stock units outstanding at June 30, 2020.

We have recorded $2,376 of share based compensation expense during the six months ended June 30, 2020, related to restricted stock units issued and
expected to be issued as part of our annual corporate bonus plan.

13. Operating Leases - Right of Use Assets and Purchase Commitments

Right of Use Assets
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We have various operating leases for office space that expire through 2030. Below is a summary of our right of use assets and liabilities as of June
30, 2020.

Right-of-use assets $ 11,449
Lease liability obligations, current $ 2,390
Lease liability obligations, less current portion 12,316
Total lease liability obligations $ 14,706
Weighted-average remaining lease term 8.3 years
Weighted-average discount rate 5.05 %

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized approximately $794 in operating lease costs. Operating lease costs of $118 are
included in cost of revenue, and $676 are included in operating expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. During the three months ended June
30, 2020, cash paid for operating leases was approximately $472. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized approximately $1,598 in
operating lease costs. Operating lease costs of $249 are included in cost of revenue, and $1,349 are included in operating expenses in our consolidated
statements of operations. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, cash paid for operating leases was approximately $965.

During the three months ended June 30, 2019, we recognized approximately $977 in operating lease costs. Operating lease costs of $147 are
included in cost of revenue, and $830 are included in operating expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. During the three months ended June
30, 2019, cash paid for operating leases was approximately $464. For the six months ended June 30, 2019, we recognized approximately $1,943 in
operating lease costs. Operating lease costs of $291 are included in cost of revenue, and $1,652 are included in operating expenses in our consolidated
statements of operations. For the six months ended June 30, 2019, cash paid for operating leases was approximately $1,052.

Approximate future minimum lease payments for our right of use assets over the remaining lease periods as of June 30, 2020, are as follows:

Remainder of 2020 $ 1,405
2021 3,048
2022 2,217
2023 1,740
2024 1,441
Thereafter 8,269
Total minimum payments 18,120
Less: amount representing interest 3,414
Total $ 14,706

Purchase Commitments

We have long-term commitments for bandwidth usage and co-location with various networks and Internet service providers. The following
summarizes our minimum non-cancellable commitments for future periods as of June 30, 2020:

Remainder of 2020 $ 20,973
2021 18,880
2022 5,739
2023 2,319
2024 344
Thereafter —
Total minimum payments $ 48,255

14. Concentrations

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we had two customers, Amazon and Sony, who each
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represented 10% or more of our total revenue. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, we had one customer, Amazon, who represented 10%
or more of our total revenue.

Revenue from customers located within the United States, our country of domicile, was $35,605 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared
to $28,087 for the three months ended June 30, 2019. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, revenue from customers located within the United States
was $69,623, compared to $52,063 for the six months ended June 30, 2019.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, based on customer location, we had three countries, the United States, Japan, and the
United Kingdom, that accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue.

15. Income Taxes

Income taxes for the interim periods presented have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements on the basis of an estimated
annual effective tax rate. Based on an estimated annual effective tax rate and discrete items, income tax expense for the three months ended June 30, 2020
and 2019, was $136 and $255, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, income tax expense was $311 and $378, respectively.
Income tax expense was different than the statutory income tax rate primarily due to us providing for a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets in certain
jurisdictions, and the recording of state and foreign tax expense for the three month periods.

We file income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. Tax years 2017 through 2019 remain subject to examination by
federal tax authorities. Tax years 2016 through 2019 generally remain subject to examination by state tax authorities. As of June 30, 2020, we are not under
any federal or state examination for income taxes.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, there was no impact to income tax expense related to the Global Intangible Low-
Taxed Income inclusion (GILTTI) as a result of our net operating loss carryforwards (NOL) and valuation allowance position. We do not expect the GILTI to
have a material impact on future earnings due to our NOL and valuation allowance position.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
CARES Act, among other things, permits NOL carryovers and carrybacks to offset 100% of taxable income for taxable years beginning before 2021. In
addition, the CARES Act allows NOLs incurred in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five preceding taxable years to generate a refund
of previously paid income taxes. We are currently evaluating the impact of the CARES Act, but at present do not expect that the NOL carryback provision
of the CARES Act would result in a cash benefit to us.

16. Segment Reporting and Geographic Areas

Our chief operating decision maker (who is our Chief Executive Officer) reviews the financial information presented on a consolidated basis for
purposes of allocating resources and evaluating our financial performance. We operate in one industry segment — content delivery and related services and
we operate in three geographic areas — Americas, Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA), and Asia Pacific.

Revenue by geography is based on the location of the customer from which the revenue is earned. The following table sets forth our revenue by
geographic area:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Americas $ 36,343 62 % $ 28,970 63% $ 71,058 62 % $ 54,005 61 %
EMEA 9,262 16 % 7,282 16 % 18,821 16 % 14,547 16 %
Asia Pacific 12,941 22 % 9,652 21 % 25,679 22 % 20,632 23 %
Total revenue $ 58,546 100 % $ 45,904 100 % $ 115,558 100 % $ 89,184 100 %

The following table sets forth the individual countries and their respective revenue for those countries whose revenue exceeded 10% of our total
revenue:
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Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

Country / Region 2020 2019 2020 2019
United States / Americas $ 35,605 $ 28,087 $ 69,623 $ 52,063
United Kingdom / EMEA $ 7,483 $ 5,285 $ 15,077 $ 10,414
Japan / Asia Pacific $ 8,326 $ 5,682 $ 16,548 $ 11,505

The following table sets forth long-lived assets by geographic area in which the assets are located:

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
Americas $ 35,064 $ 33,450
International 13,844 12,686
Total long-lived assets $ 48908 $ 46,136
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as well as the audited consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto and management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2019, included in
Part II of our annual report on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC, on January 30, 2020.

Prior period information has been modified to conform to current year presentation. All information in this Item 2 is presented in thousands,
except per share amounts and customer count and where otherwise specifically noted.

Overview

We were founded in 2001 as a provider of content delivery network services to deliver digital content over the internet. We began development of
our infrastructure in 2001 and began generating meaningful revenue in 2002. Today, we are a leading provider of digital content delivery, online video
delivery, cloud security, edge computing, and cloud storage services. Our edge services platform includes a globally distributed, high-performance private
network, intelligent software, and support services. Our mission is to securely manage and globally deliver digital content, building customer satisfaction
through exceptional reliability and performance.

Our delivery services represented approximately 82% of our total revenue during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020. We also generate
revenue through the sale of professional services and other infrastructure services, such as transit and rack space services.

We operate in markets that are highly competitive. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience increased competition in price,
features, functionality, integration and other factors leading to customer churn and customers operating their own network. Competition and technology
advancements have resulted in declining average selling prices in the industry. We believe continued increases in content delivery traffic growth rates,
driven by the continued shift to over the top consumption for online video and increased consumption of rich media content and larger file sizes, increased
migration of applications and data to the cloud, and continued growth rates of mobile device usage are all important trends that will continue to outpace
declining average selling prices in the industry.

In addition to these revenue-related trends, our profitability is impacted by trends in our costs of services and operating expenses. We continuously
review our capacity needs and work to optimize our data center footprint. During 2019, we increased our network capacity by more than 100% to over 70
terabits per second through software enhancements and hardware additions. We continuously renegotiate our infrastructure contracts in order to scale our
operations based on traffic levels and lower bandwidth costs per unit. Our operating expenses are largely driven by payroll and related employee costs. Our
headcount increased from 610 as of December 31, 2019, to 627 as of June 30, 2020.

The change in everyday behavior caused by the novel coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic has changed people’s viewing habits and created new
patterns in daily usage worldwide. This has included a greater consumption of content online, such as movies and television shows, news, and video games.
As a result, we have seen an increase in customer traffic during the three months ended June 30, 2020, and we believe that traffic will remain elevated
while the isolation mandates across the globe remain. Nevertheless, there is uncertainty about the impact on traffic levels when the isolation mandates are
lifted, workers return to their places of employment, and warmer weather draws people outside.

Our business is dependent on providing our customers with fast, efficient, and reliable distribution of content delivery and digital asset
management services over the Internet every minute of every day. Because of this, we operate a globally distributed network in close to 120 data centers
with services that are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and 365 days a year. Our network is fully redundant and includes extensive diversity
through data center and telecommunication suppliers within and across regions. In response to the outbreak of COVID-19, we took several precautionary
steps early to safeguard our business and our people, including implementing travel bans and restrictions, temporarily closing offices, and canceling
participation in various industry events. We have been in constant communication with our business-critical partners and are frequently reassured that, like
us, they have activated their pandemic response plans to ensure service continuity. We also have initiated conversations with various ISPs to understand
their pain points and how we can manage our traffic to better alleviate congestion.

We have seen a slowing in our collections of outstanding accounts receivable from some of our customers, and we are experiencing logistics
challenges in some parts of the world that may cause delays in updating or expanding our network. While it is difficult to predict what the world will look
like when this pandemic has run its course, we currently do not expect the COVID-19 pandemic to have a material adverse impact on our balance sheet,
financial condition, and results of operations, nor
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do we expect any impairment of goodwill, long-lived assets or right of use assets. There has been no material impact to our financial reporting systems,
internal control over financial reporting, and disclosure controls and procedures.

The following table summarizes our revenue, costs, and expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands of dollars
and as a percentage of total revenue).

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue $ 58,546 100.0 % $ 45,904 100.0 % $ 115,558 100.0 % $ 89,184 100.0 %
Cost of revenue 34,749 59.4 % 27,397 59.7 % 71,012 61.5 % 54,654 61.3 %
Gross profit 23,797 40.6 % 18,507 40.3 % 44,546 38.5 % 34,530 38.7 %
Operating expenses 25,011 42.7 % 25,474 55.5 % 50,746 43.9 % 50,128 56.2 %
Operating loss (1,214) 2.1)% (6,967) (15.2)% (6,200) (54)% (15,598) (17.5)%
Total other income (expense) (377) (0.6)% 30 0.1 % (472) 0.4)% 225 0.3 %
Loss before income taxes (1,591) (2.7)% (6,937) (15.1)% (6,672) (5.8)% (15,373) 17.2)%
Income tax expense 136 0.2 % 255 0.6 % 311 0.3 % 378 0.4 %
Net loss $  (1,727) 9% $ (7,192) 15.7)% $ (6,983) (6.00% $ (15,751) 17.7)%

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To evaluate our business, we consider and use non-generally accepted accounting principles (Non-GAAP) net income (loss), EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA as supplemental measures of operating performance. These measures include the same adjustments that management takes into account
when it reviews and assesses operating performance on a period-to-period basis. We consider Non-GAAP net income (loss) to be an important indicator of
overall business performance. We define Non-GAAP net income (loss) to be U.S. GAAP net income (loss), adjusted to exclude share-based compensation.
We believe that EBITDA provides a useful metric to investors to compare us with other companies within our industry and across industries. We define
EBITDA as U.S. GAAP net income (loss), adjusted to exclude depreciation and amortization, interest expense, interest and other (income) expense, and
income tax expense. We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA adjusted to exclude share-based compensation. We use Adjusted EBITDA as a
supplemental measure to review and assess operating performance. Our management uses these Non-GAAP financial measures because, collectively, they
provide valuable information on the performance of our on-going operations, excluding non-cash charges, taxes and non-core activities (including interest
payments related to financing activities). These measures also enable our management to compare the results of our on-going operations from period to
period, and allow management to review the performance of our on-going operations against our peer companies and against other companies in our
industry and adjacent industries. We believe these measures also provide similar insights to investors, and enable investors to review our results of
operations “through the eyes of management.”

Furthermore, our management uses these Non-GAAP financial measures to assist them in making decisions regarding our strategic priorities and
areas for future investment and focus.

In our July 20, 2020, earnings press release, as furnished on Form 8-K, we included Non-GAAP net income (loss), EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA. The terms Non-GAAP net income (loss), EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not defined under U.S. GAAP, and are not measures of operating
income, operating performance or liquidity presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our Non-GAAP net income (loss), EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
have limitations as analytical tools, and when assessing our operating performance, Non-GAAP net income (loss), EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should
not be considered in isolation, or as a substitute for net income (loss) or other consolidated income statement data prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Some of these limitations include, but are not limited to:
+ EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual
commitments;
+ these measures do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

* Non- GAAP net income (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect the cash requirements necessary for litigation costs, including provision for
litigation and litigation expenses;

+ these measures do not reflect the interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our debt that
we may incur;

+ these measures do not reflect income taxes or the cash requirements for any tax payments;
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+ although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will be replaced sometime in the
future, and EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

+ while share-based compensation is a component of operating expense, the impact on our financial statements compared to other companies can
vary significantly due to such factors as the assumed life of the options and the assumed volatility of our common stock; and

+ other companies may calculate Non-GAAP net income (loss), EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting their usefulness
as comparative measures.

We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our U.S. GAAP results and using Non-GAAP net income (loss), EBITDA, and
Adjusted EBITDA only as supplemental support for management’s analysis of business performance. Non-GAAP net income (loss), EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA are calculated as follows for the periods presented.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In accordance with the requirements of Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K, we are presenting the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial
measures and reconciling the unaudited Non-GAAP financial metrics to the comparable U.S. GAAP measures.

Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP Net Loss to Non-GAAP Net Income (Loss)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, March 31, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2020 2020 2019 2020 2019
U.S. GAAP net loss $ 1,727) $ (5,257) $ (7,192) $ (6,983) $ (15,751)
Share-based compensation 5,251 5,064 3,649 10,315 7,105
Non-GAAP net income (loss) $ 3,524 $ (193) $ (3.543) $ 3,332 $ (8,646)

Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP Net Loss to EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, March 31, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2020 2020 2019 2020 2019
U.S. GAAP net loss $ (1,727) $ (5,257) $ (7,192) $ (6,983) $ (15,751)
Depreciation and amortization 5,683 5,491 4,755 11,175 9,316
Interest expense 71 10 10 82 20
Interest and other (income) expense 306 85 (40) 390 (245)
Income tax expense 136 176 255 311 378
EBITDA $ 4,469 $ 505 $ (2,212) $ 4,975 $ (6,282)
Share-based compensation 5,251 5,064 3,649 10,315 7,105
Adjusted EBITDA $ 9,720 $ 5,569 $ 1,437 $ 15,290 $ 823

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Please see Note 2 of Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a summary of changes in significant accounting policies. In addition, our
critical accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. During the six
months ended June 30, 2020, there have been no other significant changes in our critical accounting policies and estimates.
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Results of Operations
Revenue

We derive revenue primarily from the sale of our digital content delivery, video delivery, cloud security, edge compute and origin storage services.
We also generate revenue through the sale of professional services and other infrastructure services, such as transit and rack space services.

The following table reflects our revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2019:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
$ % $ %
2020 2019 Change Change 2020 2019 Change Change
Revenue $ 58,546 $ 45,904 $ 12,642 28% $ 115,558 $ 89,184 $ 26,374 30 %

Our revenue increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, versus the comparable 2019 periods due to a significant increase in
volumes driven by increased demand for our content delivery services. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we experienced a decrease in
average selling price versus the comparable 2019 periods as a result of continuous pricing compression, which is common within our industry.

Our active customers worldwide decreased to 560 as of June 30, 2020, compared to 621 as of June 30, 2019. We are continuing our selective approach
to accepting profitable business by following a clear process for identifying customers that value quality, performance, availability, and service.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, sales to our top 20 customers accounted for approximately 79% and 71%, respectively, of our
total revenue. For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, sales to our top 20 customers accounted for approximately 77% and 68%, respectively, of
our total revenue. The customers that comprised our top 20 customers change from time to time, and our large customers may not continue to be as
significant going forward as they have been in the past.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we had two customers, Amazon and Sony, who each represented 10% or more of our total
revenue. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, we had one customer, Amazon, who represented 10% or more of our total revenue.

Revenue by geography is based on the location of the customer from which the revenue is earned. The following table sets forth revenue by geographic
area (in thousands and as a percentage of total revenue):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Americas $ 36,343 62 % $ 28,970 63% $ 71,058 62 % $ 54,005 61 %
EMEA 9,262 16 % 7,282 16 % 18,821 16 % 14,547 16 %
Asia Pacific 12,941 22 % 9,652 21 % 25,679 22 % 20,632 23 %
Total revenue $ 58,546 100 % $ 45,904 100 % % 115,558 100 % $ 89,184 100 %

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of fees paid to network providers for bandwidth and backbone, costs incurred for non-settlement free peering
and connection to Internet service providers, and fees paid to data center operators for housing of our network equipment in third party network data
centers, also known as co-location costs. Cost of revenue also includes leased warehouse space and utilities, depreciation of network equipment used to
deliver our content delivery services, payroll and related costs, and share-based compensation for our network operations and professional services
personnel. Other costs include professional fees and outside services, travel and travel-related expenses, and royalty expenses.
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Cost of revenue was composed of the following (in thousands and as a percentage of total revenue):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Bandwidth and co-location fees $ 20,948 358 % $ 15,547 339% $ 41,490 359 % $ 30,675 34.4 %
Depreciation - network 5,360 9.2 % 4,628 10.1 % 10,510 9.1 % 8,944 10.0 %
Payroll and related employee costs 4,689 8.0 % 4,190 9.1 % 9,503 8.2 % 8,344 9.4 %
Share-based compensation 792 1.4 % 377 0.8 % 1,555 1.3 % 788 09 %
Other costs 2,960 5.1 % 2,655 5.8 % 7,954 6.9 % 5,903 6.6 %
Total cost of revenue $ 34,749 59.4 % $ 27,397 59.7 % $ 71,012 61.5% $ 54,654 61.3 %

Our cost of revenue increased in aggregate dollars and remained consistent as a percentage of total revenue for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2020, versus the comparable 2019 periods. The changes in cost of revenue were primarily a result of the following:

*  Bandwidth expenses increased in aggregate dollars due to higher transit fees and increased peering costs, resulting from increased traffic on

our network and our continued expansion in existing, as well as new geographies.

*  Our co-location costs increased in aggregate dollars primarily due to our expansion in existing, as well as new geographies.

*  Depreciation expense increased due to increased capital expenditures over the last two years.

»  Payroll and related employee costs increased as a result of additional network operations and professional services personnel.

*  Other costs increased primarily due to an increase in international re-seller costs.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense was composed of the following (in thousands and as a percentage of total revenue):

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Payroll and related employee costs $ 3,172 54% $ 2,793 6.1% $ 6,387 55% $ 5,742 6.4 %
Professional fees and outside services 1,111 19 % 1,460 3.2 % 1,868 1.6 % 2,342 2.6 %
Share-based compensation 2,257 3.9 % 2,140 4.7 % 4,498 3.9 % 4,234 4.7 %
Other costs 1,647 2.8 % 1,947 42 % 3,316 2.9 % 3,557 4.0 %
Total general and administrative $ 8187 140 % $ 8340 182 % $ 16,069 139 % $ 15875 17.8 %

Our general and administrative expense decreased in aggregate dollars and decreased as a percentage of total revenue for the three months ended
June 30, 2020, versus the comparable 2019 period. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, our general and administrative expense increased in aggregate
dollars and decreased as a percentage of revenue versus the comparable 2019 period.

The decrease in aggregate dollars for the three months ended June 30, 2020, versus the comparable 2019 period was primarily driven by decreased
professional fees and services (consulting, accounting, legal) and decreased other costs, which was primarily lower bad debt expense and lower travel and
entertainment expenses. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in payroll and related employee costs due to increased general and

administrative personnel.

The increase in aggregate dollars for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily related to increased payroll and related employee costs,
offset by lower professional fees and services and lower other costs (bad debt expense and travel and entertainment expenses).

We expect our general and administrative expenses for 2020 to increase slightly in both aggregate dollars and as a percentage of total revenue due to

expected changes in variable compensation.
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense was composed of the following (in thousands and as a percentage of total revenue):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Payroll and related employee costs $ 7,823 134% $ 7,858 171 % $ 16,018 139 % $ 15,852 17.8 %
Share-based compensation 1,322 2.3 % 598 1.3 % 2,550 2.2 % 1,082 1.2 %
Marketing programs 602 1.0 % 639 1.4 % 1,071 0.9 % 1,126 1.3 %
Other costs 1,182 2.0 % 1,899 4.1 % 3,184 2.8 % 3,906 4.4 %
Total sales and marketing $ 10,929 187 % $ 10,994 239 % $ 22,823 19.8 % $ 21,966 24.6 %

Our sales and marketing expense decreased in aggregate dollars and decreased as a percentage of total revenue for the three months ended
June 30, 2020, versus the comparable 2019 period. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, our sales and marketing expense increased in aggregate dollars
and decreased as a percentage of revenue versus the comparable 2019 period.

The decrease in aggregate dollars for the three months ended June 30, 2020, versus the comparable 2019 period was primarily driven by decreased
other costs (travel and entertainment, facilities, other employee costs), offset by increased share-based compensation primarily due to variable
compensation that will be paid in restricted stock units.

The increase in aggregate dollars for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily related to increased share-based compensation primarily
due to variable compensation that will be paid in restricted stock units. This increase was partially offset by lower other costs (travel and entertainment and

facilities).
We expect our sales and marketing expenses for 2020 to remain consistent throughout the year.
Research and Development

Research and development expense was composed of the following (in thousands and as a percentage of total revenue):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Payroll and related employee costs $ 3,549 6.1% $ 4,255 93 % $ 7,144 62% $ 8,575 9.6 %
Share-based compensation 880 1.5 % 534 1.2 % 1,712 1.5 % 1,001 1.1 %
Other costs 1,143 2.0 % 1,224 2.7 % 2,333 2.0 % 2,339 2.6 %
Total research and development $ 5572 95% $ 6,013 131% $ 11,189 97% $ 11,915 13.4 %

Our research and development expense decreased in both aggregate dollars and as a percentage of total revenue for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2020, versus the comparable 2019 periods. The decrease in aggregate dollars was primarily due to a decrease in payroll and related employee costs
due to lower salary expense and lower variable compensation. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in share-based compensation primarily due
to variable compensation that will be paid in restricted stock units.

We expect our research and development expenses for 2020 to remain consistent throughout the year.

Depreciation and Amortization (Operating Expenses)

Depreciation and amortization expense was $323, or 0.6% of revenue, for the three months ended June 30, 2020, versus $127, or 0.3% of revenue, for
the comparable 2019 period. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, depreciation and amortization expense was $665, or 0.6% of revenue versus $372, or
0.4% of revenue, for the comparable 2019 period. Depreciation expense consists of depreciation on equipment and furnishings used by general
administrative, sales and marketing, and research and development personnel. Amortization expense consists of amortization of intangible assets acquired

in business combinations.
Interest Expense

Interest expense was $71 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, versus $10 for the comparable 2019 period. For
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the six months ended June 30, 2020, interest expense was $82 versus $20 for the comparable 2019 period. Interest expense is inclusive of fees associated
with the Fourth and Fifth Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreement (the Credit Agreement) with Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) originally entered into
in November 2015.

Interest Income

Interest income was $6 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, versus $110 for the comparable 2019 period. For the six months ended June 30,
2020, interest income was $31 versus $321 for the comparable 2019 period. Interest income includes interest earned on invested cash balances and
marketable securities.

Other Income (Expense)

Other expense was $312 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, versus other expense of $70 for the comparable 2019 period. For the six months
ended June 30, 2020, other expense was $421 versus $76 for the comparable 2019 period. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019,
other income/expense consisted primarily of foreign currency transaction gains and losses and the gain/loss on sale of fixed assets.

Income Tax Expense

Based on an estimated annual effective tax rate and discrete items, the estimated income tax expense for the three and six months ended June 30,
2020, was $136 and $311, respectively, versus $255 and $378, respectively, for the comparable 2019 periods. Income tax expense on our income (loss)
before income taxes was different than the statutory income tax rate primarily due to our providing for a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets in
certain jurisdictions, and recording of state and foreign tax expense for the quarter. The effective income tax rate is based primarily upon forecasted income
or loss for the year, the composition of the income or loss in different countries, and adjustments, if any, for the potential tax consequences, benefits or
resolutions for tax audits.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
The CARES Act, among other things, permits NOL carryovers and carrybacks to offset 100% of taxable income for taxable years beginning before 2021.
In addition, the CARES Act allows NOLs incurred in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five preceding taxable years to generate a
refund of previously paid income taxes. We are currently evaluating the impact of the CARES Act, but at present do not expect that the NOL carryback
provision of the CARES Act would result in a cash benefit to us.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2020, our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities classified as current totaled $18,200. Included in this amount is
approximately $6,041 of cash and cash equivalents held outside the United States. Changes in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are
dependent upon changes in, among other things, working capital items such as deferred revenues, accounts payable, accounts receivable, accrued provision
for litigation, and various accrued expenses, as well as purchases of property and equipment and changes in our capital and financial structure due to debt
repurchases and issuances, stock option exercises, sales of equity investments, and similar events.

Cash from operations could also be affected by various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic and other risks detailed in Part II, Item 1A titled "Risk Factors". However, we believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities, and available borrowing capacity will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months. If the assumptions
underlying our business plan regarding future revenue and expenses change or if unexpected opportunities or needs arise, we may seek to raise additional
cash by selling equity or debt securities.

The major components of changes in cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, are discussed in the following paragraphs.
Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $11,916 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, versus net cash used in operating activities of $4,849
for the comparable 2019 period, an increase of $16,765. Changes in operating assets and liabilities of $(2,779) during the six months ended June 30, 2020,
versus $(6,088) in the comparable 2019 period, were primarily due to:

»  accounts receivable increased $11,083 during the six months ended June 30, 2020, as a result of timing of collections as compared to a $5,751
increase in the comparable 2019 period;
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»  prepaid expenses and other current assets increased $447 during the six months ended June 30, 2020, due to an increase in prepaid expenses and
insurance, and VAT receivable, offset by the amortization of prepaid bandwidth and backbone expenses, compared to a $108 decrease in the
comparable 2019 period;

« accounts payable and other current liabilities increased $6,937 during the six months ended June 30, 2020, versus an increase of $6,473 for the
comparable 2019 period due to timing of variable compensation and vendor payments; and

» net payments for provision for litigation decreased $3,040 as a result of our final payments to Akamai Technologies, Inc. during the three
months ended June 30, 2019.

Cash provided by operating activities may not be sufficient to cover new purchases of property and equipment during the remainder of 2020 and
beyond. The timing and amount of future working capital changes and our ability to manage our days sales outstanding will also affect the future amount of
cash used in or provided by operating activities.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $14,948 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, versus net cash provided by investing activities of
$4,446 for the comparable 2019 period. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, net cash used in investing activities was related to capital expenditures
primarily for servers and network equipment associated with the build-out and expansion of our global computing platform. For the six months ended June
30, 2019, net cash provided by investing activities primarily related to cash received from the sale and maturities of marketable securities, offset by cash
used for capital expenditures, primarily for servers and network equipment and the purchase of marketable securities.

We expect to have ongoing capital expenditure requirements as we continue to invest in and expand our content delivery network. During the six
months ended June 30, 2020, we made capital expenditures of $14,948, which represented approximately 13% of our total revenue. We currently expect
capital expenditures in 2020 to be approximately $25 to $30 million, as we continue to increase the capacity of our global network and re-fresh our
systems.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $3,147 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, versus net cash used in financing activities of $410
for the comparable 2019 period. Net cash provided by financing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2020, primarily relates to cash received from
the exercise of stock options and our employee stock purchase plan of $6,092, offset by the payments of employee tax withholdings related to the net
settlement of vested restricted stock units of $2,945.

Net cash used in financing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2019, primarily relates to the payments of employee tax withholdings
related to the net settlement of vested restricted stock units of $1,513, offset by cash received from the exercise of stock options and our employee stock
purchase plan of $1,103.

Line of Credit

In April 2020, we entered into a Fifth Amendment (Fifth Amendment) to the Loan and Security Agreement (the Credit Agreement) with Silicon
Valley Bank (SVB) originally entered into in November 2015. Under the Fifth Amendment, the maximum principal commitment amount remained at
$20,000. Our borrowing capacity is the lesser of the commitment amount or 80% of eligible accounts receivable. All outstanding borrowings owed under
the Credit Agreement become due and payable no later than the extended final maturity date of November 2, 2022.

As of June 30, 2020, borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at the current prime rate minus 0.25%. In the event of default, obligations
shall bear interest at a rate per annum which is 3% above the then applicable rate. As of June 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding
borrowings, and we had availability under the Credit Agreement of $20,000.

Financial Covenants and Borrowing Limitations

The Credit Agreement requires, and any future credit facilities will likely require, us to comply with specified financial requirements that may limit
the amount we can borrow. A breach of any of these covenants could result in a default. Our ability to satisfy those covenants depends principally upon our
ability to meet or exceed certain financial performance results. Any debt agreements we enter into in the future may further limit our ability to enter into
certain types of transactions.

We are required to maintain an Adjusted Quick Ratio of at least 1.0 to 1.0. We are also subject to certain customary limitations on our ability to,
among other things, incur debt, grant liens, make acquisitions and other investments, make certain
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restricted payments such as dividends, dispose of assets or undergo a change in control. As of June 30, 2020, we were in compliance with our covenant
under the Credit Agreement.

For a more detailed discussion regarding our Credit Agreement and Fifth Amendment, please refer to Note 7 "Line of Credit" of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We may be prevented from taking advantage of business opportunities that arise because of the limitations imposed on us by restrictive covenants
within the Credit Agreement. These restrictions may also limit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions, meet capital needs or otherwise restrict
our activities or business plans and adversely affect our ability to finance our operations, enter into acquisitions, execute our business strategy, effectively
compete with companies that are not similarly restricted or engage in other business activities that would be in our interest. In the future, we may also incur
debt obligations that might subject us to additional and different restrictive covenants that could affect our financial and operational flexibility. We cannot
assure you that we will be granted waivers or amendments to the indenture governing the Credit Agreement, or such other debt obligations if for any reason
we are unable to comply with our obligations thereunder or that we will be able to refinance our debt on acceptable terms, or at all, should we seek to do so.
Any such limitations on borrowing under the Credit Agreement, including payments related to litigation, could have a material adverse impact on our
liquidity and our ability to continue as a going concern could be impaired.

Share Repurchases

On March 14, 2017, our board of directors authorized a $25,000 share repurchase program. Any shares repurchased under this program will be
canceled and returned to authorized but unissued status. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, we did not repurchase any shares under the
repurchase program. As of June 30, 2020, there remained $21,200 under this share repurchase program.

Contractual Obligations, Contingent Liabilities, and Commercial Commitments

In the normal course of business, we make certain long-term commitments for right-of-use (ROU) assets, primarily office facilities, and purchase
commitments for bandwidth and computer rack space. These commitments expire on various dates ranging from 2020 to 2030. We expect that the growth
of our business will require us to continue to add to and increase our ROU assets and long-term commitments in 2020 and beyond. As a result of our
growth strategies, we believe that our liquidity and capital resources requirements will grow.

The following table presents our contractual obligations and commercial commitments, as of June 30, 2020, over the next five years and thereafter:

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years

Purchase Commitments

Bandwidth commitments $ 32,874 $ 24,054 $ 8,568 $ 252 $ —

Rack space commitments 15,381 8,961 5,759 661 —
Total purchase commitments 48,255 33,015 14,327 913 —
Right-of-use assets and other operating leases 18,195 3,154 4,547 2,940 7,554
Total commitments $ 66,450 $ 36,169 $ 18,874 $ 3,853 $ 7,554

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2020, we are not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our debt and investment portfolio. In our investment portfolio, we do
not use derivative financial instruments. Our investments are primarily with our commercial and investment banks and, by policy, we limit the amount of
risk by investing primarily in money market funds, United States Treasury obligations, high quality corporate and municipal obligations, and certificates of
deposit. Interest expense on our line of credit under the Credit Agreement, as amended, is at the current prime rate minus 0.25%. In the event of default,
obligations
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shall bear interest at a rate per annum which is 3% above the then applicable rate. An increase in interest rates of 100 basis points would add $10 of interest
expense per year, to our financial position or results of operations, for each $1,000 drawn on the line of credit. As of June 30, 2020, there were no
outstanding borrowings against the line of credit.

Foreign Currency Risk

We operate in the Americas, EMEA, and Asia-Pacific. As a result of our international business activities, our financial results could be affected by
factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or economic conditions in foreign markets, and there is no assurance that exchange rate
fluctuations will not harm our business in the future. We have foreign currency exchange rate exposure on our results of operations as it relates to revenues
and expenses denominated in foreign currencies. A portion of our cost of revenues and operating expenses are denominated in foreign currencies as are our
revenues associated with certain international customers. To the extent that the U.S. dollar weakens, similar foreign currency denominated transactions in
the future will result in higher revenues and higher cost of revenues and operating expenses, with expenses having the greater impact on our financial
results. Similarly, our revenues and expenses will decrease if the U.S. dollar strengthens against these foreign currencies. Although we will continue to
monitor our exposure to currency fluctuations, and, where appropriate, may use financial hedging techniques in the future to minimize the effect of these
fluctuations, we are not currently engaged in any financial hedging transactions. Assuming a 10% weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to our foreign
currency denominated revenues and expenses, our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019, would have been higher by approximately $3,049, and
our net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2020, would have been higher by approximately $2,020. There are inherent limitations in the sensitivity
analysis presented, primarily due to the assumption that foreign exchange rate movements across multiple jurisdictions are similar and would be linear and
instantaneous. As a result, the analysis is unable to reflect the potential effects of more complex markets or other changes that could arise, which may
positively or negatively affect our results of operations.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. If our costs were to become
subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so
could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Credit Risk

During any given fiscal period, a relatively small number of customers typically account for a significant percentage of our revenue. During the
three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, sales to our top 20 customers accounted for approximately 79% and 71%, respectively, of our total revenue.
During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we had two customers, Amazon and Sony, who each represented more than 10% of our total revenue. During
the three months ended June 30, 2019, we had one customer, Amazon, who represented more than 10% of our total revenue.

For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, sales to our top 20 customers accounted for approximately 77% and 68%, respectively, of our
total revenue. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we had two customers, Amazon and Sony, who each represented more than 10% of our total
revenue. During the six months ended June 30, 2019, we had one customer, Amazon, who represented more than 10% of our total revenue.

In 2020, we anticipate that our top 20 customer concentration levels will remain consistent with 2019. In the past, the customers that comprised our
top 20 customers have continually changed, and our large customers may not continue to be as significant going forward as they have been in the past.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in SEC Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e). We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in SEC Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures.
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As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
June 30, 2020. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in SEC Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), during the fiscal
quarter ended June 30, 2020, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

For a description of our material pending legal proceedings, please refer to Note 8 "Contingencies - Legal Matters" of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with
all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in Part I, Item II, and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before making a decision to invest in
our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only ones we face. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial
condition, operating results and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline,
and you could lose part or all of your investment. All information is presented in thousands, except per share amounts, customer count, head count and
where specifically noted.

Risks Related to Our Business
We currently face competition from established competitors and may face competition from others in the future.

We compete in markets that are intensely competitive, rapidly changing and characterized by frequently declining prices. In these markets,
vendors offer a wide range of alternate solutions. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience increased competition on price, features,
functionality, integration and other factors. Several of our current competitors, as well as a number of our potential competitors, have longer operating
histories, greater name recognition, broader customer relationships and industry alliances, and substantially greater financial, technical and marketing
resources than we do. As a consequence of the competitive dynamics in our markets, we have experienced reductions in our prices, and an increased
requirement for product advancement and innovation in order to remain competitive, which in turn have adversely affected and may continue to adversely
affect our revenue, gross margin and operating results.

Our primary competitors for our content delivery services include Akamai, CenturyLink, Amazon, CDNetworks, Fastly, StackPath, and Verizon
Digital Media Services. In addition, a number of companies have recently entered or are currently attempting to enter our market, either directly or
indirectly, as a result of the growth in the content delivery market. These new entrants include companies that have built internal content delivery networks
to solely deliver their own traffic, rather than relying solely, largely or in part on content delivery specialists, such as us. Some of these new entrants may
become significant competitors in the future. Given the relative ease by which customers typically can switch among content delivery service providers,
differentiated offerings or pricing by competitors could lead to a rapid loss of customers. Some of our current or potential competitors may bundle their
offerings with other services, software or hardware in a manner that may discourage content providers from purchasing the services that we offer. In
addition, we face different market characteristics and competition with local content delivery service providers as we expand internationally. Many of these
international competitors are very well positioned within their local markets. Increased competition could result in price reductions and revenue shortfalls,
loss of customers and loss of market share, which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face different competitors for our other service offerings. However, the competitive landscape is different from content delivery in this area in
that the process of changing vendors can be more costly and complicated for the customer, which could make it difficult for us to attract new customers and
increase our market share.

Several of our competitors have greater financial and sales resources than we do. Many have been offering similar services in the markets in which
we compete longer than we have. We may not be able to successfully compete against these or new competitors. If we are unable to increase our customer
base and increase our market share, our business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

Any unplanned interruption or degradation in the functioning or availability of our network or services, or attacks on or disruptions to our
internal information technology systems, could lead to increased costs, a significant decline in our revenue, and harm to our reputation.

Our business is dependent on providing our customers with fast, efficient, and reliable distribution of content delivery and digital asset
management services over the Internet every minute of every day. Our services could be disrupted by numerous events, including natural disasters, failure
or refusal of our third-party network providers to provide the necessary
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capacity or access, failure of our software or global network infrastructure and power losses. In addition, we deploy our servers in third-party co-location
facilities, and these third-party co-location providers could experience system outages or other disruptions that could constrain our ability to deliver our
services.

We may also experience disruptions caused by software viruses, unauthorized hacking of our systems, security breaches or other cyberattacks by
unauthorized users. The economic costs to us to eliminate or alleviate cyber or other security problems, viruses, worms, malicious software programs, and
other security vulnerabilities could be significant, and our efforts to address these problems may not be successful and could result in interruptions, delays,
cessation of service, and loss of existing or potential customers.

Any material interruption or degradation in the functioning of our services for any reason could reduce our revenue, harm our reputation with
existing and potential customers, and thus adversely impact our business and results of operations. This is true even if such interruption or degradation was
for a relatively short period of time, but occurred during the streaming of a significant live event, launch by a customer of a new streaming service, or the
launch of a new video-on-demand offering.

We have a history of losses and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We incur significant expenses in developing our technology and maintaining and expanding our network. We also incur significant share-based
compensation expense and have incurred (and may in the future incur) significant costs associated with litigation. Accordingly, we may not be able to
achieve or maintain profitability for the foreseeable future.

We also may not achieve sufficient revenue to achieve or maintain profitability and thus may continue to incur losses in the future for a number of
reasons, including, among others:

*  slowing demand for our services;

* increasing competition and competitive pricing pressures;

* any inability to provide our services in a cost-effective manner;

»  the incurrence of unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays; and
«  otherrisks described in this report.

If we fail to achieve and maintain profitability, the price of our common stock could decline, and our business, financial condition and results of operations
could suffer.

If we are unable to sell our services at acceptable prices relative to our costs, our revenue and gross margins will decrease and our business and
financial results will suffer.

Prices for content delivery services have fallen in recent years and are likely to fall further in the future. We have invested significant amounts in
purchasing capital equipment as part of our effort to increase the capacity of our global content delivery network. Our investments in our infrastructure are
based upon our assumptions regarding future demand, as well as prices that we will be able to charge for our services. These assumptions may prove to be
wrong. If the price that we are able to charge customers to deliver their content falls to a greater extent than we anticipate, if we over-estimate future
demand for our services, or if our costs to deliver our services do not fall commensurate with any future price declines, we may not be able to achieve
acceptable rates of return on our infrastructure investments, and our gross profit and results of operations may suffer dramatically.

As we further expand our global network and services, and as we refresh our network equipment, we are dependent on significant future growth in
demand for our services to justify additional capital expenditures. If we fail to generate significant additional demand for our services, our results of
operations will suffer, and we may fail to achieve planned or expected financial results. There are numerous factors that could, alone or in combination with
other factors, impede our ability to increase revenue, moderate expenses or maintain gross margins, including:

*  continued price declines arising from significant competition;

* increasing settlement fees for certain peering relationships;

» failure to increase sales of our services;

» increases in electricity, bandwidth and rack space costs or other operating expenses, and failure to achieve decreases in these costs and
expenses relative to decreases in the prices we can charge for our services and products;

» failure of our current and planned services and software to operate as expected;

» loss of any significant customers or loss of existing customers at a rate greater than our increase in new customers or our sales to existing
customers;
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« failure to increase sales of our services to current customers as a result of their ability to reduce their monthly usage of our services to their
minimum monthly contractual commitment;

» failure of a significant number of customers to pay our fees on a timely basis or at all or to continue to purchase our services in accordance
with their contractual commitments; and

*  inability to attract high quality customers to purchase and implement our current and planned services.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived collectively from our video delivery services, cloud security, edge compute, and origin storage
services. These services tend to have higher gross margins than our content delivery services. We may not be able to achieve the growth rates in revenue
from such services that we or our investors expect or have experienced in the past. If we are unable to achieve the growth rates in revenue that we expect
for these service offerings, our revenue and operating results could be significantly and negatively affected.

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations. As of December 31, 2019, we had
federal and state net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $206,500 and $138,300, respectively, due to prior period losses. In general, under Section
382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” can be subject to limitations on
its ability to utilize its NOLSs to offset future taxable income. Our existing NOLs may be subject to limitations arising from past ownership changes. Future
changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code. In addition,
under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Tax Act), the amount of post 2017 NOLs that we are permitted to deduct in any taxable year is limited to 80% of our
taxable income in such year, where taxable income is determined without regard to the NOL deduction itself. In addition, the Tax Act generally eliminates
the ability to carry back any NOL to prior taxable years, while allowing post 2017 unused NOLs to be carried forward indefinitely. There is a risk that due
to changes under the Tax Act, regulatory changes, or other unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be unavailable to offset future
income tax liabilities. For these reasons, we may not be able to realize a tax benefit from the use of our NOLs, whether or not we attain profitability.

Our involvement in litigation may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.

1

We have been involved in multiple intellectual property lawsuits in the past (see discussion of such lawsuits in Note 8 "Contingencies - Legal Matters'
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q). We are from time to time party to other
lawsuits. The outcome of all litigation is inherently unpredictable. The expenses of defending these lawsuits, particularly fees paid to our lawyers and
expert consultants, have been significant to date. If the cost of prosecuting or defending current or future lawsuits continues to be significant, it may
continue to adversely affect our operating results during the pendency of such lawsuits. Lawsuits also require a diversion of management and technical
personnel time and attention away from other activities to pursue the defense or prosecution of such matters. In addition, adverse rulings in such lawsuits
either alone or cumulatively may have an adverse impact on our revenue, expenses, market share, reputation, liquidity and financial condition.

If we are required to seek funding, such funding may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.

We may need to obtain funding due to a number of factors, including a shortfall in revenue, increased expenses, increased investment in capital
equipment, the acquisition of significant businesses or technologies, or adverse judgments or settlements in connection with future, unforeseen litigation.
We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities classified as current plus cash from operations will be sufficient to fund our operations
and proposed capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. However, we may need or desire funding before such time. If we do need to obtain
funding, it may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we are unable to obtain sufficient funding, our business would be harmed.
Even if we were able to find outside funding sources, we might be required to issue securities in a transaction that could be highly dilutive to our investors
or we may be required to issue securities with greater rights than the securities we have outstanding today. We might also be required to take other actions
that could lessen the value of our common stock, including borrowing money on terms that are not favorable to us. If we are unable to generate or raise
capital that is sufficient to fund our operations, we may be required to curtail operations, reduce our capabilities or cease operations in certain jurisdictions
or completely.

We may have difficulty scaling and adapting our existing architecture to accommodate increased traffic and technology advances or changing
business requirements. This could lead to the loss of customers and cause us to incur unexpected expenses to make network improvements.

Our services and solutions are highly complex and are designed to be deployed in and across numerous large and
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complex networks. Our global network infrastructure has to perform well and be reliable for us to be successful. We will need to continue to invest in
infrastructure and customer support to account for the continued growth in traffic (and the increased complexity of that traffic) delivered via content
delivery networks such as ours. We have spent and expect to continue to spend substantial amounts on the purchase and lease of equipment and data centers
and the upgrade of our technology and network infrastructure to handle increased traffic over our network, implement changes to our network architecture
and integrate existing solutions and to roll out new solutions and services. For example, during 2019, we increased our network capacity by more than
100% to over 60 terabits per second through software enhancements and hardware additions. This expansion is expensive and complex and could result in
inefficiencies, operational failures or defects in our network and related software. If we do not implement such changes or expand successfully, or if we
experience inefficiencies and operational failures, the quality of our solutions and services and user experience could decline. From time to time, we have
needed to correct errors

and defects in our software or in other aspects of our network. In the future, there may be additional errors and defects that may harm our ability to deliver
our services, including errors and defects originating with third party networks or software on which we rely. These occurrences could damage our
reputation and lead to the loss of current and potential customers, which would harm our operating results and financial condition. We must continuously
upgrade our infrastructure in order to keep pace with our customers’ evolving demands. Cost increases or the failure to accommodate increased traffic or
these evolving business demands without disruption could harm our operating results and financial condition.

If we are unable to develop new services and enhancements to existing services or fail to predict and respond to emerging technological trends and
customers’ changing needs, our operating results and market share may suffer.

The market for our services is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, and new product and service
introductions. Our operating results depend on our ability to understand user preferences or predict industry changes. Our operating results also depend on
our ability to modify our solutions and services on a timely basis or develop and introduce new services into existing and emerging markets. The process of
developing new technologies is complex and uncertain. We must commit significant resources to developing new services or enhancements to our existing
services before knowing whether our investments will result in services the market will accept. Furthermore, we may not successfully execute our
technology initiatives because of errors in planning or timing, technical hurdles that we fail to overcome in a timely fashion, misunderstandings about
market demand or a lack of appropriate resources. As prices for content delivery services fall, we will increasingly rely on new product offerings and other
service offerings to maintain or increase our gross margins. Failures in execution, delays in bringing new or improved products or services to market,
failure to effectively integrate service offerings, or market acceptance of new services we introduce could result in competitors providing those solutions
before we do, which could lead to loss of market share, revenue and earnings.

We depend on a limited number of customers for a substantial portion of our revenue in any fiscal period, and the loss of, or a significant shortfall
in demand from, these customers could significantly harm our results of operations.

During any given fiscal period, a relatively small number of customers typically account for a significant percentage of our revenue. For the six
months ended June 30, 2020, sales to our top 20 customers accounted for approximately 77% of our total revenue. During the six months ended June 30,
2020, we had two customers, Amazon and Sony, who each represented 10% or more of our total revenue.

In the past, the customers that comprised our top 20 customers have continually changed, and we also have experienced significant fluctuations in
our individual customers’ usage of, or decreased usage of, our services. As a consequence, we may not be able to adjust our expenses in the short term to
address the unanticipated loss of a large customer during any particular period. As such, we may experience significant, unanticipated fluctuations in our
operating results that may cause us to not meet our expectations or those of stock market analysts, which could cause our stock price to decline.

Rapidly evolving technologies or new business models could cause demand for our services to decline or could cause these services to become
obsolete.

Customers, potential customers or third parties may develop technological or business model innovations that address digital delivery
requirements in a manner that is, or is perceived to be, equivalent or superior to our service offerings. This is particularly true as our customers increase
their operations and begin expending greater resources on delivering their content using third party solutions. If we fail to offer content delivery, video
content management, edge services, and other related services that are competitive to in-sourced solutions, we may lose additional customers or fail to
attract customers that may consider pursuing this in-sourced approach, and our business and financial results would suffer.

If competitors introduce new products or services that compete with or surpass the quality or the price or performance of our services, we may be
unable to renew our agreements with existing customers or attract new customers at the prices and levels that allow us to generate attractive rates of return
on our investment. We may not anticipate such developments and may be unable to adequately compete with these potential solutions. In addition, our
customers’ business models may change in
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ways that we do not anticipate, and these changes could reduce or eliminate our customers’ needs for our services. If this occurred, we could lose customers
or potential customers, and our business and financial results would suffer.

As aresult of these or similar potential developments, it is possible that competitive dynamics in our market may require us to reduce our prices
faster than we anticipate, which could harm our revenue, gross margin and operating results.

Failure to effectively enhance our sales capabilities could harm our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance
of our services.

Increasing our customer base and achieving broader market acceptance of our services will depend to a significant extent on our ability to enhance
our sales and marketing operations. We have a concentration of our sales force at our headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona, but we also have a widely
deployed field sales force. We have aligned our sales resources to improve our sales productivity and efficiency and to bring our sales personnel closer to
our current and potential customers. Adjustments to our sales force have been and will continue to be expensive and could cause some near-term
productivity impairments. As a result, we may not be successful in improving the productivity and efficiency of our sales force, which could cause our
results of operations to suffer.

We believe that there is significant competition for both inside and direct sales personnel with the sales skills and technical knowledge that we
require. Our ability to achieve significant growth in revenue in the future will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining
sufficient numbers of inside and direct sales personnel. New hires require significant training and, in most cases, take a significant period of time before
they achieve full productivity. Our recent hires and planned hires may not become as productive as we would like, and we may be unable to hire or retain
sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do business. Our business will be seriously harmed if our sales force
productivity efforts do not generate a corresponding significant increase in revenue.

Many of our significant current and potential customers are pursuing emerging or unproven business models, which, if unsuccessful, or ineffective
at monetizing delivery of their content, could lead to a substantial decline in demand for our content delivery and other services.

Because the proliferation of broadband Internet connections and the subsequent monetization of content libraries for distribution to Internet users
are relatively recent phenomena, many of our customers’ business models that center on the delivery of rich media and other content to users remain
unproven. Some of our customers will not be successful in selling advertising, subscriptions, or otherwise monetizing the content we deliver on their behalf
and consequently may not be successful in creating a profitable business model. This will result in some of our customers discontinuing their Internet or
web-based business operations and discontinuing use of our services and solutions. Further, any deterioration and related uncertainty in the global financial
markets and economy such as that caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, could result in, among other things, reductions in available capital and liquidity
from banks and other providers of credit, fluctuations in equity and currency values worldwide, and concerns that portions of the worldwide economy may
be in a prolonged recessionary period. In addition, to the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects the global financial markets and economy, it
may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section, such as those relating to our need to raise
additional capital to support our operations and to service our indebtedness, and our ability to comply with the covenants contained in the agreements that
govern our indebtedness. Any one or more of these occurrences could materially adversely impact our customers’ access to capital or willingness to spend
capital on our services or, in some cases, ultimately cause the customer to file for protection from creditors under applicable insolvency or bankruptcy laws
or simply go out of business. This uncertainty may also impact our customers’ levels of cash liquidity, which could affect their ability or willingness to
timely pay for services that they will order or have already ordered from us. From time to time we discontinue service to customers for non-payment of
services. We expect further customers may discontinue operations or not be willing or able to pay for services that they have ordered from us. Further loss
of customers may adversely affect our financial results.

The effects of the recent COVID-19 pandemic have materially affected how we and our customers are operating our businesses, and the duration
and extent to which this will impact our future results of operations and overall financial performance remains uncertain.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. This pandemic, which has continued to spread, and the
related adverse public health developments, including orders to shelter-in-place, travel restrictions, and mandated business closures, have adversely affected
workforces, organizations, governments, customers, economies, and financial markets globally, leading to an economic downturn and increased market
volatility. It has also disrupted the normal operations of many businesses, including ours. For example, in response to the outbreak of COVID-19, we
activated our pandemic response plan and took several precautionary steps early to safeguard our business and our people, including implementing travel
bans and restrictions, temporarily closing offices, and canceling participation in various industry events. This outbreak, as well as intensified measures
undertaken to contain the spread of COVID-19, could decrease consumer
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spending, adversely affect demand for our technology and services, cause one or more of our customers and partners to file for bankruptcy protection or go
out of business, cause one or more of our customers to fail to renew, terminate, or renegotiate their contracts, affect the ability of our sales team to travel to
potential customers, impact expected spending from new customers, and negatively impact collections of accounts receivable, all of which could adversely
affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Further, the sales cycle for a new customer of our technology and services could lengthen, resulting in a potentially longer delay between increasing
operating expenses and the generation of corresponding revenue, if any. We cannot predict with any certainty whether and to what degree the disruption
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and reactions thereto will continue, and expect to face difficulty accurately predicting our internal financial forecasts.
The outbreak also presents challenges as our workforce is currently working remotely and shifting to assisting new and existing customers who are also
generally working remotely. It is not possible for us to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on our
business, results of operations, or financial condition at this time.

If we are unable to attract new customers or to retain our existing customers, our revenue could be lower than expected and our operating results
may suffer.

To increase our revenue, we must add new customers and sell additional services to existing customers and encourage existing customers to
increase their usage levels. If our existing and prospective customers do not perceive our services to be of sufficiently high value and quality, we may not
be able to retain our current customers or attract new customers. We sell our services pursuant to service agreements that generally include some form of
financial minimum commitment. Our customers have no obligation to renew their contracts for our services after the expiration of their initial commitment,
and these service agreements may not be renewed at the same or higher level of service, if at all. Moreover, under some circumstances, some of our
customers have the right to cancel their service agreements prior to the expiration of the terms of their agreements. Aside from minimum financial
commitments, customers are not obligated to use our services for any particular type or amount of traffic. These facts, in addition to the changing
competitive landscape in our market, means that we cannot accurately predict future customer renewal rates or usage rates. Our customers’ renewal rates
may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including:

* their satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our services;

* the quality and reliability of our content delivery network;

» the prices of our services;

» the prices of services offered by our competitors;

» discontinuation by our customers of their Internet or web-based content distribution business;
* mergers and acquisitions affecting our customer base; and

*  reductions in our customers’ spending levels.

If our customers do not renew their service agreements with us, or if they renew on less favorable terms, our revenue may decline and our business
may suffer. Similarly, our customer agreements often provide for minimum commitments that are often significantly below our customers’ historical usage
levels. Consequently, even if we have agreements with our customers to use our services, these customers could significantly curtail their usage without
incurring any penalties under our agreements. In this event, our revenue would be lower than expected and our operating results could suffer.

It also is an important component of our growth strategy to market our services and solutions to particular industries or market segments. As an
organization, we may not have significant experience in selling our services into certain of these markets. Our ability to successfully sell our services into
these markets to a meaningful extent remains unproven. If we are unsuccessful in such efforts, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could suffer.

Rapid increase in the use of mobile and alternative devices to access the Internet present significant development and deployment challenges.

The number of people who access the Internet through devices other than PCs, including mobile devices, game consoles and television set-top
devices, has increased dramatically in the past few years. The capabilities of these devices are advancing dramatically and the increasing need to provide a
high-quality video experience will present us and other providers with significant challenges. If we are unable to deliver our service offerings to a
substantial number of alternative device users and at a high quality, or if we are slow to develop services and technologies that are more compatible with
these devices, we may fail to capture a significant share of an increasingly important portion of the market. Such a failure could limit our ability to compete
effectively in an industry that is rapidly growing and changing, which, in turn, could cause our business, financial condition and results of operations to
suffer.
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We need to defend our intellectual property and processes against patent or copyright infringement claims, which may cause us to incur
substantial costs and threaten our ability to do business.

Companies, organizations or individuals, including our competitors and non-practicing entities, may hold or obtain patents or other proprietary
rights that would prevent, limit or interfere with our ability to make, use or sell our services or develop new services, which could make it more difficult for
us to operate our business. From time to time, we may receive inquiries from holders of patents inquiring whether we infringe their proprietary rights.
Companies holding Internet-related patents or other intellectual property rights are increasingly bringing suits alleging infringement of such rights or
otherwise asserting their rights and seeking licenses. Any litigation or claims, whether or not valid, could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources from the defense of such claims. In addition, many of our agreements with customers require us to defend and indemnify those customers for
third-party intellectual property infringement claims against them, which could result in significant additional costs and diversion of resources. If we are
determined to have infringed upon a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may also be required to do one or more of the following:

«  cease selling, incorporating or using products or services that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;

*  pay substantial damages;

* obtain a license from the holder of the infringed intellectual property right, which license may or may not be available on reasonable terms or
at all; or

»  redesign products or services.

If we are forced to litigate any claims or to take any of these other actions, our business may be seriously harmed.

Our business may be adversely affected if we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights from unauthorized use or infringement by third
parties.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and restrictions on disclosure to protect our intellectual property
rights. We have applied for patent protection in the United States and a number of foreign countries. These legal protections afford only limited protection
and laws in foreign jurisdictions may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as in the United States. Monitoring infringement of our intellectual property
rights is difficult, and we cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights. Developments and
changes in patent law, such as changes in interpretations of the joint infringement standard, could restrict how we enforce certain patents we hold. We also
cannot be certain that any pending or future patent applications will be granted, that any future patent will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented,
or that rights granted under any patent that may be issued will provide competitive advantages to us.

Our results of operations may fluctuate in the future. As a result, we may fail to meet or exceed the expectations of securities analysts or investors,
which could cause our stock price to decline.

Our results of operations may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. If our results of operations fall
below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. In addition to the effects of other risks
discussed in this section, fluctuations in our results of operations may be due to a number of factors, including, among others:

»  our ability to increase sales to existing customers and attract new customers to our content delivery and other services;

» the addition or loss of large customers, or significant variation in their use of our content delivery and other services;

*  costs associated with current or future intellectual property lawsuits and other lawsuits;

»  service outages or third party security breaches to our platform or to one or more of our customers’ platforms;

»  the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures related to the maintenance and expansion of our business, operations and
infrastructure and the adequacy of available funds to meet those requirements;

» the timing and success of new product and service introductions by us or our competitors;

» the occurrence of significant events in a particular period that result in an increase in the use of our content delivery and other services, such
as a major media event or a customer’s online release of a new or updated video game or operating system;

» changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

» the timing of recognizing revenue;

» limitations of the capacity of our global network and related systems;

» the timing of costs related to the development or acquisition of technologies, services or businesses;

»  the potential write-down or write-off of intangible or other long-lived assets;
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*  general economic, industry and market conditions (such as fluctuations experienced in the stock and credit markets during times of
deteriorated global economic conditions or during an outbreak of an epidemic or pandemic, such as the recent COVID-19 outbreak) and those
conditions specific to Internet usage;

* limitations on usage imposed by our customers in order to limit their online expenses; and

*  war, threat of war or terrorist actions, including cyber terrorism targeted at us, our customers, or both, and inadequate cybersecurity.

We believe that our revenue and results of operations may vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating
results may not be meaningful. You should not rely on the results of one period as an indication of future performance.

We generate our revenue primarily from the sale of content delivery services, and the failure of the market for these services to expand as we
expect or the reduction in spending on those services by our current or potential customers would seriously harm our business.

While we offer our customers a number of services and solutions, we generate the majority of our revenue from charging our customers for the
content delivered on their behalf through our global network. We are subject to an elevated risk of reduced demand for these services. Furthermore, if the
market for delivery of rich media content in particular does not continue to grow as we expect or grows more slowly, then we may fail to achieve a return
on the significant investment we are making to prepare for this growth. Our success, therefore, depends on the continued and increasing reliance on the
Internet for delivery of media content and our ability to cost-effectively deliver these services. Many different factors may have a general tendency to limit
or reduce the number of users relying on the Internet for media content, the amount of content consumed by our customers’ users, or the number of
providers making this content available on-line, including, among others:

* ageneral decline in Internet usage;

«  third party restrictions on on-line content (including copyright restrictions, digital rights management and restrictions in certain geographic
regions);

*  system impairments or outages, including those caused by hacking or cyberattacks; and

* asignificant increase in the quality or fidelity of off-line media content beyond that available online to the point where users prefer the off-
line experience.

The influence of any of these or other factors may cause our current or potential customers to reduce their spending on content delivery services,
which would seriously harm our operating results and financial condition.

We could incur charges due to impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets.

As of June 30, 2020, we had a goodwill balance of approximately $77,113, which is subject to periodic testing for impairment. Our long-lived
assets also are subject to periodic testing for impairment. A significant amount of judgment is involved in the periodic testing. Failure to achieve sufficient
levels of cash flow could result in impairment charges for goodwill or fixed asset impairment for long-lived assets, which could have a material adverse
effect on our reported results of operations. Our goodwill impairment analysis also includes a comparison of the aggregate estimated fair value of our
reporting unit to our total market capitalization. If our stock trades below our book value, a significant and sustained decline in our stock price and market
capitalization could result in goodwill impairment charges. During times of financial market volatility, significant judgment will be used to determine the
underlying cause of the decline and whether stock price declines are short-term in nature or indicative of an event or change in circumstances. Impairment
charges, if any, resulting from the periodic testing are non-cash.

Our operations are dependent in part upon communications capacity provided by third party telecommunications providers. A material
disruption of the communications capacity could harm our results of operations, reputation and customer relations.

We enter into arrangements for private line capacity for our backbone from third party providers. Our contracts for private line capacity generally
have terms of three to four years. The communications capacity may become unavailable for a variety of reasons, such as physical interruption, technical
difficulties, contractual disputes, or the financial health of our third party providers. Also, industry consolidation among communications providers could
result in fewer viable market alternatives, which could have an impact on our costs of providing services. Alternative providers are currently available;
however, it could be time consuming and expensive to promptly identify and obtain alternative third party connectivity. Additionally, as we grow, we
anticipate requiring greater private line capacity than we currently have in place. If we are unable to obtain such capacity from third party providers on
terms commercially acceptable to us or at all, our business and financial results would suffer. Similarly, if we are unable to timely deploy enough network
capacity to meet the needs of our customer base or effectively
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manage the demand for our services, our reputation and relationships with our customers would be harmed, which, in turn, could harm or business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We face risks associated with international operations that could harm our business.

We have operations in numerous foreign countries and may continue to expand our sales and support organizations internationally. As part of our
business strategy, we intend to expand our international network infrastructure. Expansion could require us to make significant expenditures, including the
hiring of local employees or resources, in advance of generating any revenue. As a consequence, we may fail to achieve profitable operations that will
compensate our investment in international locations. We are subject to a number of risks associated with international business activities that may increase
our costs, lengthen our sales cycle and require significant management attention. These risks include, but are not limited to:

» increased expenses associated with sales and marketing, deploying services and maintaining our infrastructure in foreign countries;

*  competition from local content delivery service providers, many of which are very well positioned within their local markets;

»  challenges caused by distance, language, and cultural differences;

« unexpected changes in regulatory requirements preventing or limiting us from operating our global network or resulting in unanticipated costs
and delays;

» interpretations of laws or regulations that would subject us to regulatory supervision or, in the alternative, require us to exit a country, which
could have a negative impact on the quality of our services or our results of operations;

* longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

*  corporate and personal liability for violations of local laws and regulations;

*  currency exchange rate fluctuations and repatriation of funds;

* potentially adverse tax consequences;

»  credit risk and higher levels of payment fraud; and

» foreign exchange controls that might prevent us from repatriating cash earned in countries outside the United States.

International operations are subject to significant additional risks not generally faced in our domestic operations, including, but not limited to,
risks relating to legal systems that may not adequately protect contract and intellectual property rights, policies and taxation, the physical infrastructure of
the country, as well as risks relating to potential political turmoil and currency exchange controls. There can be no assurance that these international risks
will not materially adversely affect our business. Should there be significant productivity losses, or if we become unable to conduct operations in
international locations in the future, and our contingency plans are unsuccessful in addressing the related risks, our business could be adversely affected.

Our business depends on continued and unimpeded access to third party controlled end-user access networks.

Our content delivery services depend on our ability to access certain end-user access networks in order to complete the delivery of rich media and
other on-line content to end-users. Some operators of these networks may take measures that could degrade, disrupt or increase the cost of our or our
customers’ access to certain of these end-user access networks. Such measures may include restricting or prohibiting the use of their networks to support or
facilitate our services, or charging increased fees to us, our customers or end-users in connection with our services. In 2015, the U.S. Federal
Communications Commission (FCC) released network neutrality and open Internet rules that reclassified broadband Internet access services as a
telecommunications service subject to some elements of common carrier regulation. Among other things, the FCC order prohibited blocking
or discriminating against lawful services and applications and prohibited "paid prioritization," or providing faster speeds or other benefits in return for
compensation. In 2017, the FCC overturned these rules. As a result, we or our customers could experience increased cost or slower data on these third-party
networks. If we or our customers experience increased cost in delivering content to end users, or otherwise, or if end users perceive a degradation of
quality, our business and that of our customers may be significantly harmed. This or other types of interference could result in a loss of existing customers,
increased costs and impairment of our ability to attract new customers, thereby harming our revenue and growth.

In addition, the performance of our infrastructure depends in part on the direct connection of our global network to a large number of end-user
access networks, known as peering, which we achieve through mutually beneficial cooperation with these networks. In some instances, network operators
charge us for the peering connections. If, in the future, a significant percentage of these network operators elected to no longer peer with our network or
peer with our network on less favorable economic terms, then the performance of our infrastructure could be diminished, our costs could increase and our
business could suffer.
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If our ability to deliver media files in popular proprietary content formats was restricted or became cost-prohibitive, demand for our content
delivery services could decline, we could lose customers and our financial results could suffer.

Our business depends on our ability to deliver media content in all major formats. If our legal right or technical ability to store and deliver content
in one or more popular proprietary content formats, such as HTTP Live Streaming was limited, our ability to serve our customers in these formats would be
impaired and the demand for our content delivery and other services would decline by customers using these formats. Owners of propriety content formats
may be able to block, restrict or impose fees or other costs on our use of such formats, which could lead to additional expenses for us and for our
customers, or which could prevent our delivery of this type of content altogether. Such interference could result in a loss of existing customers, increased
costs and impairment of our ability to attract new customers, which would harm our revenue, operating results and growth.

We use certain “open-source” software, the use of which could result in our having to distribute our proprietary software, including our source
code, to third parties on unfavorable terms, which could materially affect our business.

Certain of our service offerings use software that is subject to open-source licenses. Open-source code is software that is freely accessible, usable
and modifiable. Certain open-source code is governed by license agreements, the terms of which could require users of such open-source code to make any
derivative works of such open-source code available to others on unfavorable terms or at no cost. Because we use open-source code, we may be required to
take remedial action to protect our proprietary software. Such action could include replacing certain source code used in our software, discontinuing certain
of our products or features or taking other actions that could divert resources away from our development efforts.

In addition, the terms relating to disclosure of derivative works in many open-source licenses are unclear. We periodically review our compliance
with the open-source licenses we use and do not believe we will be required to make our proprietary software freely available. Nevertheless, if a court
interprets one or more such open-source licenses in a manner that is unfavorable to us, we could be required to make some components of our software
available at no cost, which could materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition.

If we are unable to retain our key employees and hire qualified sales and technical personnel, our ability to compete could be harmed.

Our future success depends upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key technology, sales, marketing and support personnel
who have critical industry experience and relationships that they rely on in implementing our business plan. There is increasing competition for talented
individuals with the specialized knowledge to deliver our services and this competition affects both our ability to retain key employees and hire new ones.
Historically, we have experienced a significant amount of employee turnover, especially with respect to our sales personnel. As a result, a significant
number of our sales personnel are relatively new and may need time to become fully productive. The loss of the services of any of our key employees could
disrupt our operations, delay the development and introduction of our services, and negatively impact our ability to sell our services.

We are subject to the effects of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, which could affect our operating results.

The financial condition and results of operations of our operating foreign subsidiaries are reported in the relevant local currency and are then
translated into U.S. dollars at the applicable currency exchange rate for inclusion in our consolidated U.S. dollar financial statements. Also, although a large
portion of our customer and vendor agreements are denominated in U.S. dollars, we may be exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates with respect
to customer agreements with certain of our international customers. Exchange rates between these currencies and U.S. dollars in recent years have
fluctuated significantly and may do so in the future. In addition to currency translation risk, we incur currency transaction risk whenever one of our
operating subsidiaries enters into a transaction using a different currency than the relevant local currency. Given the volatility of exchange rates, we may be
unable to manage our currency transaction risks effectively. Currency fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on our future international sales and,
consequently, on our financial condition and results of operations.

As part of our business strategy, we may acquire businesses or technologies and may have difficulty integrating these operations.

We have completed a number of business acquisitions and may seek to acquire businesses or technologies that are complementary to our business
in the future. Acquisitions are often complex and involve a number of risks to our business, including, among others;

» the difficulty of integrating the operations, services, solutions and personnel of the acquired companies;
» the potential disruption of our ongoing business;
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« the potential distraction of management;

» the possibility that our business culture and the business culture of the acquired companies will not be compatible;

« the difficulty of incorporating or integrating acquired technology and rights with or into our other services and solutions;

»  expenses related to the acquisition and to the integration of the acquired companies;

* the impairment of relationships with employees and customers as a result of any integration of new personnel;

» employee turnover from the acquired companies or from our current operations as we integrate businesses;

*  risks related to the businesses of acquired companies that may continue to impact the businesses following the merger; and
*  potential unknown liabilities associated with acquired companies.

Any inability to integrate services, solutions, operations or personnel in an efficient and timely manner could harm our results of operations.

If we are not successful in completing acquisitions that we may pursue in the future, we may be required to reevaluate our business strategy, and
we may incur substantial expenses and devote significant management time and resources without a productive result. In addition, future acquisitions will
require the use of our available cash or dilutive issuances of securities. Future acquisitions or attempted acquisitions could also harm our ability to achieve
profitability.

Internet-related and other laws relating to taxation issues, privacy, data security, and consumer protection and liability for content distributed
over our network could harm our business.

Laws and regulations that apply to communications and commerce conducted over the Internet are becoming more prevalent, both in the United
States and internationally, and may impose additional burdens on companies conducting business on-line or providing Internet-related services such as
ours. Increased regulation could negatively affect our business directly, as well as the businesses of our customers, which could reduce their demand for our
services. For example, tax authorities abroad may impose taxes on the Internet-related revenue we generate based on where our internationally deployed
servers are located. In addition, domestic and international taxation laws are subject to change. Our services, or the businesses of our customers, may
become subject to increased taxation, which could harm our financial results either directly or by forcing our customers to scale back their operations and
use of our services in order to maintain their operations. Also, the Communications Act of 1934, as amended by the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the
Act), and the regulations promulgated by the FCC under Title II of the Act, may impose obligations on the Internet and those participants involved in
Internet-related businesses. In addition, the laws relating to the liability of private network operators for information carried on, processed by or
disseminated through their networks are unsettled, both in the United States and abroad. Network operators have been sued in the past, sometimes
successfully, based on the content of material disseminated through their networks. We may become subject to legal claims such as defamation, invasion of
privacy and copyright infringement in connection with content stored on or distributed through our network. In addition, our reputation could suffer as a
result of our perceived association with the type of content that some of our customers deliver. If we need to take costly measures to reduce our exposure to
the risks posed by laws and regulations that apply to communications and commerce conducted over the Internet, or are required to defend ourselves
against related claims, our financial results could be negatively affected.

Several other federal laws also could expose us to liability and impose significant additional costs on us. For example, the Digital Millennium
Copyright Act has provisions that limit, but do not eliminate, our liability for the delivery of customer content that infringe copyrights or other rights, so
long as we comply with certain statutory requirements. In addition, the Children’s On-line Privacy Protection Act restricts the ability of on-line services to
collect information from minors and the Protection of Children from Sexual Predators Act of 1998 requires on-line service providers to report evidence of
violations of federal child pornography laws under certain circumstances. Also, there are emerging regulation and industry standards regarding the
collection and use of personal information and protecting the security of data on networks. Compliance with these laws, regulations and standards is
complex and any failure on our part to comply with these regulations may subject us to additional liabilities.

Privacy concerns could lead to regulatory and other limitations on our business, including our ability to use “cookies” and video player “cookies”
that are crucial to our ability to provide services to our customers.

Our ability to compile data for customers depends on the use of “cookies” and video player “cookies” to identify
certain on-line behavior that allows our customers to measure a website or video’s effectiveness. A cookie is a small file of information stored on a user’s
computer that allows us to recognize that user’s browser or video player when the user makes a request for a web page or to play a video. Government
authorities inside the United States concerned with the privacy of Internet users have suggested the enactment of legislation that would regulate cookies
and/or require certain disclosures regarding cookies. Bills aimed at regulating the collection, use and/or storage of personal data from Internet users are
currently
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pending in United States Congress and many state legislatures. Attempts at such regulation may be drafted in such a way as to limit or otherwise regulate
the collection of certain technology like cookies, thereby creating restrictions that could reduce our ability to use them. For example, the California
Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA) became effective in January 2020. The CCPA, among other things, contains new disclosure obligations for businesses that
collect personal information about California residents and affords those individuals new rights relating to their personal information that may affect our
ability to use personal information or share it with our business partners. The CCPA also provides for significant statutory fines and creates a private right
of action for certain data breaches. Regulations from the California Attorney General have not been finalized, and additional amendments to the CCPA or
other California privacy laws may be introduced in 2020. In addition, the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Commerce have conducted
hearings regarding user profiling, the collection of non-personally identifiable information, and on-line privacy.

Our foreign operations may also be adversely affected by regulatory action outside the United States. These regulations, which can be enforced by
private parties or governmental entities, are constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change. For example, the European Union has enacted an
electronic communications directive that imposes certain restrictions on the use of cookies, requires certain disclosures with respect to cookie usages and
also places restrictions on the sending of unsolicited communications. Each European Union member country was required to enact legislation to comply
with the provisions of the electronic communications directive. Germany has also enacted additional laws limiting the use of user profiling, and other
countries, both in and out of the European Union, may impose similar limitations.

Internet users may directly limit or eliminate the placement of cookies on their computers by using third-party software that blocks cookies, or by
disabling or restricting the cookie functions of their Internet browser software and in their video player software. Internet browser software upgrades also
may result in limitations on the use of cookies. Technologies like the Platform for Privacy Preferences Project may limit collection of cookies. Plaintiffs’
attorneys also have organized class action suits against companies related to the use of cookies and several companies, including companies in the Internet
advertising industry, have had claims brought against them before the Federal Trade Commission regarding the collection and use of Internet user
information. We may be subject to such suits in the future, which could limit or eliminate our ability to collect such information. If our ability to use
cookies were substantially restricted due to the foregoing, or for any other reason, we would have to generate and use other technology or methods that
allow the gathering of user data in order to provide services to customers. This change in technology or methods could require significant re-engineering
time and resources, and may not be complete in time to avoid negative consequences to our business. In addition, alternative technology or methods might
not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If the use of cookies is prohibited and we are not able to efficiently and cost effectively create
new technology, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected. In addition, any compromise of security
that results in the release of Internet users’ and/or our customers’ data could seriously limit the adoption of our service offerings as well as harm our
reputation and brand, expose us to liability and subject us to reporting obligations under various state laws, which could have an adverse effect on our
business. The risk that these types of events could seriously harm our business is likely to increase as the amount of data stored for customers on our
servers and the number of countries where we operate has been increasing, and we may need to expend significant resources to protect against security
breaches, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Also, a number of new privacy laws and/or proposals pending could affect our business. For example, the European Commission has enacted the
General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which became effective in May 2018. GDPR superseded prior EU data protection legislation, imposes more
stringent EU data protection requirements, and provides for greater penalties for noncompliance. Additionally, in October 2015, the European Court of
Justice invalidated the U.S.-EU Safe Harbor framework that had been in place since 2000, which allowed companies to meet certain European legal
requirements for the transfer of personal data from the European Economic Area to the United States. Although U.S. and EU authorities reached a political
agreement regarding a new potential means for legitimizing personal data transfers from the European Economic Area to the United States, the EU-
U.S. Privacy Shield, there continue to be concerns about whether the EU-US Privacy Shield will face additional challenges (similar to the fate of the Safe
Harbor framework). We expect that for the immediate future, we will continue to face uncertainty as to whether our efforts to comply with our obligations
under European privacy laws will be sufficient. If we are investigated by a European data protection authority, we may face fines and other penalties. Any
such investigation or charges by European data protection authorities could have a negative effect on our existing business and on our ability to attract and
retain new customers. These existing and proposed laws and regulations can be costly to comply with, could expose us to significant penalties for non-
compliance, can delay or impede the development or adoption of our products and services, reduce the overall demand for our services, result in negative
publicity, increase our operating costs, require significant management time and attention, slow the pace at which we close (or prevent us from closing)
sales transactions, and subject us to claims or other remedies, including fines or demands that we modify or cease existing business practices.

Our business requires the continued development of effective business support systems to support our customer growth and related services.
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The growth of our business depends on our ability to continue to develop effective business support systems. This is a complicated undertaking
requiring significant resources and expertise. Business support systems are needed for:

*  implementing customer orders for services;
*  delivering these services; and
» timely and accurate billing for these services.

Because our business plan provides for continued growth in the number of customers that we serve and services offered, there is a need to
continue to develop our business support systems on a schedule sufficient to meet proposed service roll-out dates. The failure to continue to develop
effective business support systems could harm our ability to implement our business plans and meet our financial goals and objectives.

We have incurred, and will continue to incur, significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to
devote substantial time to compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we have incurred, and will continue to incur, significant expenses, including accounting, legal and other professional fees,
insurance premiums, investor relations costs, and costs associated with compensating our independent directors. In addition, rules implemented by the SEC
and the Nasdaq Global Select Market impose additional requirements on public companies, including requiring changes in corporate governance practices.
For example, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market require that we satisfy certain corporate governance requirements relating to
independent directors, audit committees, distribution of annual and interim reports, stockholder meetings, stockholder approvals, solicitation of proxies,
conflicts of interest, stockholder voting rights and codes of conduct. Our management and other personnel need to devote a substantial amount of time to
these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-
consuming and costly. For example, these rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability
insurance.

If the accounting estimates we make, and the assumptions on which we rely, in preparing our financial statements prove inaccurate, our actual
results may be adversely affected.

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of
these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments about, among other things, taxes, revenue recognition, share-based compensation
costs, contingent obligations and doubtful accounts. These estimates and judgments affect the reported amounts of our assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses, the amounts of charges accrued by us, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances and at the time they are made. If our estimates or the
assumptions underlying them are not correct, we may need to accrue additional charges or reduce the value of assets that could adversely affect our results
of operations, investors may lose confidence in our ability to manage our business and our stock price could decline.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls or fail to implement our controls and procedures with respect to acquired or merged
operations, our ability to produce accurate financial statements could be impaired, which could adversely affect our operating results, our ability
to operate our business and investors’ views of us.

We must ensure that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that we can produce accurate financial
statements on a timely basis. We are required to spend considerable effort on establishing and maintaining our internal controls, which is costly and time-
consuming and needs to be re-evaluated frequently.

We have operated as a public company since June 2007, and we will continue to incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses as we
comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as new rules implemented from time to time by the SEC and the Nasdaq Global Select Market. These
rules impose various requirements on public companies, including requiring changes in corporate governance practices, increased reporting of
compensation arrangements and other requirements. Our management and other personnel will continue to devote a substantial amount of time to these
compliance initiatives. Moreover, new rules and regulations will likely increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more
time-consuming and costly. These rules and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board
of directors, our board committees or as executive officers.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that we include in our annual report our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting and our audited financial statements as of the end of each fiscal year. Furthermore, our independent registered public
accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP (EY), is required to report on whether it believes we maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of the end of the
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year. Our continued compliance with Section 404 will require that we incur substantial expense and expend significant management time on compliance
related issues, including our efforts in implementing controls and procedures related to acquired or merged operations. We currently do not have an internal
audit group and use an international accounting firm to assist us with our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. In
future years, if we fail to timely complete this assessment, or if EY cannot timely attest, there may be a loss of public confidence in our internal controls,
the market price of our stock could decline, and we could be subject to regulatory sanctions or investigations by the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the SEC
or other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources. In addition, any failure to implement required new or
improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to timely meet our regulatory
reporting obligations.

Changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse, unexpected financial reporting fluctuations and affect our reported
results of operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices can have a significant effect on our operating results and may affect our reporting of transactions
completed before the change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and varying interpretations of existing accounting pronouncements have
occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing rules or the questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or
the way we conduct our business.

Divestiture of our businesses or product lines, including those that we have acquired or will acquire, may materially adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows, or may result in impairment charges that may adversely affect our results of operations.

Divestitures involve risks, including difficulties in the separation of operations, services, products and personnel, the diversion of management’s
attention from other business concerns, the disruption of our business, the potential loss of key employees and the retention of uncertain contingent
liabilities related to the divested business, any of which could result in a material adverse effect to our financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows. Divestitures of previously acquired businesses may result in significant asset impairment charges, including those related to goodwill and other
intangible assets, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Future impairment may result from,
among other things, deterioration in the performance of the acquired business or product line, adverse market conditions and changes in the competitive
landscape, adverse changes in applicable laws or regulations, including changes that restrict the activities of the acquired business or product line, changes
in accounting rules and regulations, and a variety of other circumstances. The amount of any impairment is recorded as a charge in the statements of
operations. We may never realize the full value of our goodwill and intangible assets, and any determination requiring the write-off of a significant portion
of these assets may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in
managing these or any other significant risks that we encounter in divesting a business or product line.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The trading price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile.

The trading prices of our common stock and the securities of technology companies generally have been highly volatile. Factors affecting the
trading price of our common stock will include:
*  variations in our operating results;

» announcements of technological innovations, new services or service enhancements, strategic alliances or significant agreements by us or by
our competitors;

* commencement or resolution of, our involvement in and uncertainties arising from litigation;
« recruitment or departure of key personnel;

»  changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by any securities analysts that elect to follow our common
stock;

« if we or our stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock (including shares issued upon the exercise of options and warrants);
* developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;
« the gain or loss of significant customers;

* market conditions in our industry, the industries of our customers and the economy as a whole, including the economic impact of the COVID-
19 pandemic; and

» adoption or modification of regulations, policies, procedures or programs applicable to our business.
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In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our
common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. The trading price of our common stock might
also decline in reaction to events or speculation of events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they issue an adverse or misleading opinion or report,
our stock, our stock price and trading velume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our
business. If any of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or
more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in
turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Future equity issuances or a sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock may cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Because we may need to raise additional capital in the future to continue to expand our business and our research and development activities,
among other things, we may conduct additional equity offerings. If we or our stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock (including shares
issued upon the exercise of options and warrants) in the public market, the market price of our common stock could fall. A decline in the market price of
our common stock could make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company and
may affect the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders. These provisions:

» establish that members of the board of directors may be removed only for cause upon the affirmative vote of stockholders owning a majority
of our capital stock;

» authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that could be issued by our board of directors to increase the number of outstanding
shares and thwart a takeover attempt;

*  limit who may call special meetings of stockholders;
»  prohibit stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of the stockholders;

» establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon at
stockholder meetings;

»  provide for a board of directors with staggered terms; and

»  provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by a resolution of our board of directors.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which imposes certain restrictions relating to transactions with major
stockholders, may discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.
Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
Not applicable.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Provided
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Limelight
3.01 Networks, Inc. 8-K 001-33508 3.1 6/14/11

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Limelight Networks,
3.02 Inc. 8-K 001-33508 3.2 2/19/13

Employment Agreement between Registrant and Dan Boncel
10.1 dated July 1, 2020 X

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities
31.1 Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a). X

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities
31.2 Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a). X

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
32.1 Section 1350 and Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b).* X

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
32.2 Section 1350 and Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b).* X

INLINE XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION SCHEMA
101.SCH DOCUMENT X

INLINE XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION CALCULATION
101.CAL LINKBASE DOCUMENT X

INLINE XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION DEFINITION
101.DEF LINKBASE DOCUMENT X

INLINE XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION LABEL
101.LAB LINKBASE DOCUMENT X

INLINE XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION PRESENTATION
101.PRE LINKBASE DOCUMENT X

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with
applicable taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibits
104 101.) X

*This certification is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Such
certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
except to the extent that Limelight Networks, Inc. specifically incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

LIMELIGHT NETWORKS, INC.

Date:  July 20, 2020 By: /s/  DANIEL R. BONCEL

Daniel R. Boncel
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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LIMELIGHT NETWORKS, INC.
DAN BONCEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of July 1, 2020 (the “Signing Date”), by and between
Limelight Networks, Inc. (the “Company”) and Daniel Boncel (“Executive™).

1. Duties and Scope of Employment.

(a) Positions and Duties. Effective as of July 1, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), Executive will commence
service as the Company’s Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”). Executive will report to the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer (the “CEQ”). As of the Effective Date, Executive will render such business and professional services in the
performance of his duties, consistent with Executive’s position within the Company, as will reasonably be assigned to him by the
CEO or the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). The period Executive is employed by the Company under this
Agreement is referred to herein as the “Employment Term.” Executive will be based in the Company’s Scottsdale, Arizona office,
and will travel on Company business to such other locations and for such periods, as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out
his responsibilities.

(b) Obligations. During the Employment Term, Executive, except as provided in this Agreement, will devote
Executive’s full business efforts and time to the Company and will use good faith efforts to discharge Executive’s obligations
under this Agreement to the best of Executive’s ability and in accordance with each of the Company’s written corporate guidance
and ethics guidelines, conflict of interests policies, code of conduct and other policies and procedures as the Company may adopt
from time to time. For the duration of the Employment Term, Executive agrees not to actively engage in any other employment,
occupation, or consulting activity for any direct or indirect remuneration without the prior approval of the CEO (which approval
will not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that Executive may, without the approval of the CEO, serve in any
capacity with any civic, educational, professional, industry or charitable organization, provided such services do not interfere
with Executive’s performance of his obligations to Company, are disclosed in writing to the Company, and are otherwise
consistent with the Company’s policies. Subject to prior approval of the CEO and, in appropriate cases (as determined by the
Company) the prior approval of the Audit Committee of the Board (which approval will not be unreasonably withheld),
Executive may also serve on the board(s) of for-profit business associations provided such participation does not interfere with
Executive’s performance of his obligations to the Company, are disclosed in writing to the Company, are consistent with the
terms of Executive’s employment with the Company (including without limitation the restrictive covenants in the Confidential
Information Agreement, as defined in Section 12 below) and are consistent with the Company’s policies (including without
limitation the Company’s Code of Business Conduct).

(©) No Conflicts. Executive hereby represents, warrants and covenants to the Company that as of the Effective
Time, Executive will not be a party to any contract, understanding, agreement or policy, written or otherwise, that will be
breached by Executive’s entering into, or performing services under, this Agreement. Executive further represents that he has
disclosed to the Company in writing all threatened, pending, or actual claims that are unresolved and still outstanding



as of the Signing Date, in each case, against Executive of which he is aware, if any, as a result of his employment with any
previous employer or his membership on any boards of directors.

(d) Other Entities. Executive agrees to serve if appointed, without additional compensation, as an officer and
director for each of the Company’s subsidiaries, partnerships, joint ventures, limited liability companies and other affiliates,
including entities in which the Company has a significant investment as determined by the Company. As used in this Agreement,
the term “affiliates” will mean any entity controlled by, controlling, or under common control of the Company.

2. At-Will Employment. Executive and the Company agree that Executive’s employment with the Company
constitutes “at-will” employment. Executive and the Company acknowledge that this employment relationship may be terminated
at any time, upon written notice (in accordance with Section 14, below) to the other party, with or without good cause or for any
or no cause, at the option either of the Company or Executive. However, as described in this Agreement, Executive may be
entitled to severance benefits depending upon the circumstances of Executive’s termination of employment.

3. Compensation.

(a) Base Salary. Commencing with the Effective Date, the Company will pay Executive an annual salary of
$250,000 as compensation for his services (such annual salary, as is then effective, to be referred to herein as “Base Salary”).
Executive’s Base Salary will be subject to annual review. The Base Salary will be paid periodically in accordance with the
Company’s normal payroll practices and will be subject to the usual, required withholdings.

(b) Annual Incentive. Executive will be eligible to receive annual cash incentives payable for the achievement
of performance goals established by the Board or by the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”). During
calendar year 2020, Executive’s target annual incentive (“Target Annual Incentive”) will be $100,000. The actual earned annual
cash incentive, if any, payable to Executive for any performance period will depend upon the extent to which the applicable
performance goal(s) specified by the Committee are achieved. Any annual cash incentives earned pursuant to this Section 3(b)
will be paid to Executive pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 2020 management bonus plan between the Company and
Executive, but in no event will be paid later than March 15% of the year following the year in which such annual cash incentives
are earned. To be eligible to receive the earned annual cash incentive payment, Executive must be an employee of the Company
on the actual bonus payment date, provided however Executive will remain eligible to receive his annual cash incentive amount if
he is terminated by the Company without Cause or Executive resigns with Good Reason after December 31 of the year to which
the annual cash incentive payment relates and before the actual bonus payment date. For clarity, Executive will not be eligible for
an annual cash incentive payment if he voluntarily resigns without Good Reason or is terminated for Cause prior to the actual
bonus payment date.

(© Equity Awards.

a. Subject to Committee approval, on the grant date(s) set by the Committee, the Company will issue
to Executive Forty Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($40,000) worth of equity awards in the form of Restricted Stock Units
(“RSUs”) and an option to purchase
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shares of the Company’s common stock (“Options™) pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “Plan”). The Equity Award will be split in value equally between RSUs and Options at Twenty Thousand and no/100
Dollars ($20,000) each.

b. The grant date for the RSUs will be the Effective Date. The RSUs granted shall vest over a period
of three (3) years, with one-third (1/3rd) vesting September 1, 2021, and one-twelfth (1/12th) vesting on December 1, 2021 and
on each March 1, June 1, September 1, and December 1 thereafter for the next seven (7) quarters until fully vested, provided
Executive continues to be a Service Provider through each such vesting date.

c. Subject to Committee approval, on the grant date set by the Committee, the Company will issue to
Executive the Options pursuant to the Plan. The grant date will be the Effective Date subject to adjustment in accordance with the
requirements of the Company’s equity award policy. The Options will be granted under and subject to the terms, definitions and
provisions of the Plan. One-third (1/3rd) of the Shares subject to the Option will vest on the one (1) year anniversary of the Grant
Date, and one thirty-six (1/36th) of the Shares subject to the Option will vest each month thereafter on the same day of the month
as the Grant Date (and if there is no corresponding day, on the last day of the month), provided Executive continues to be a
Service Provider through each such vesting date.

Executive may from time to time be issued stock options, RSUs or other equity awards under the
Plan or a successor plan. Such awards together with the equity awards issued pursuant to this Agreement may be referred to in
this Agreement as “Equity Awards.”

d. In the event that the Company consummates a Change of Control transaction, fifty percent (50%)
of Executive’s then outstanding unvested Equity Awards will vest immediately. In the event Executive’s employment is
terminated in connection with a Change of Control, or Executive resigns for Good Reason in connection with a Change of
Control, the balance of Executive’s then outstanding Equity Awards will vest as provided in Section 7(b) below.

i.Reimbursement of Attorneys’ Fees. Executive shall be entitled to receive reimbursement from the Company for
the actual, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by him in connection with the review and negotiation of this Agreement
not to exceed $5,000 dollars.

4, Employee Benefits.

ii.Generally. Executive will be eligible to participate in accordance with the terms of all Company employee benefit
plans, policies, arrangements and perquisites that are applicable to other senior officers of the Company and no less beneficial to
Executive than those applicable to previous chief executive officers of the Company (excluding use of his personal airplane), as
such plans, policies, arrangements and perquisites may exist from time to time.

iii.Vacation. Executive will be entitled to receive paid annual vacation in accordance with Company policy for other
vice president level officers as such policy exists from time to time, provided that, if the Company (or any successor in interest)
adopts a paid vacation policy that accrues a specified amount of time for vice president level officers, then Executive will accrue
no less than five (5) weeks annually.



5. Expenses. The Company will reimburse Executive for reasonable travel, entertainment and other business
expenses, including professional association fees, incurred by Executive in the furtherance of the performance of Executive’s
duties hereunder. Executive is expected to travel frequently. All travel will be in accordance with the Company’s travel policy and
reimbursements to Executive by the Company pursuant to this Section 5 shall be in accordance with the Company’s expense
reimbursement policy as in effect from time to time.

6. Termination of Employment.

iv.If Executive’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason, Executive will be entitled to any
(a) unpaid Base Salary accrued up to the effective date of the termination; (b) benefits or compensation as provided under the
terms of any employee benefit and compensation agreements or plans applicable to Executive; (c) unreimbursed business
expenses required to be reimbursed to Executive; and (d) rights to indemnification Executive may have under the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and this Agreement as applicable.

v.If Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause after the end of a
fiscal year, but before actual payment of accrued annual incentive for that completed fiscal year, then Executive will also be
entitled to receive the accrued annual incentive for that completed fiscal year, as and when approved by the Compensation
Committee and paid to other executives. For clarity, unless terminated by the Company after the end of a fiscal year, but before
actual payment of accrued annual incentive for that completed fiscal year without Cause or unless there is a resignation by
Executive for Good Reason, Executive must continue to be an employee of the Company through the Annual Incentive payment
date to be entitled to receive the Annual Incentive payment.

vi.In the event Executive’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason (other than Cause), Executive
will be entitled to exercise any outstanding vested stock options until the first to occur of: (i) the date that is one (1) year
following the later of such termination of employment or the date upon which Executive ceases to be a Service Provider (as
defined in the Plan), (ii) the applicable scheduled expiration date of such award (in the absence of any termination of
employment) as set forth in the award agreement, or (iii) the ten (10) year anniversary of the award’s original date of grant. For
purposes of clarity, the term “expiration date” shall be the scheduled expiration of the option agreement and not the period that
Executive shall be entitled to exercise such option. In addition, if the termination is by the Company without Cause or resignation
by Executive for Good Reason, Executive will be entitled to the amounts and benefits specified in Section 7.

7. Severance.

vii.Termination Without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason other than in Connection with a Change of Control. If
Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause or Executive terminates voluntarily for Good Reason and
such termination is not in Connection with a Change of Control, then, subject to Section 8, Executive will receive: (i) continued
payment of Executive’s Base Salary (subject to applicable tax withholdings) for twelve (12) months, such amounts to be paid in
accordance with the Company’s normal payroll policies; (ii) the actual earned cash incentive, if any, payable to Executive for the
current year, pro-rated to the date of termination, with such pro-rated amount to be calculated by multiplying the actually earned
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portion of the current year’s Target Annual Incentive by a fraction with a numerator equal to the number of days inclusive
between the start of the current calendar year and the date of termination and a denominator equal to 365, such amounts to be
paid at the same time as similar bonus payments are made to the Company’s other executive officers, and (iii) reimbursement for
premiums paid for continued health benefits for Executive (and any eligible dependents) under the Company’s health plans until
the earlier of (A) twelve (12) months, payable when such premiums are due (provided Executive validly elects to continue
coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA™)), or (B) the date upon which Executive and
Executive’s eligible dependents become covered under similar plans. For purposes of clarity, the Compensation Committee of the
Board shall determine, in good faith, the extent to which any cash incentive has been earned by Executive.

viii.Termination Without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason in Connection with a Change of Control. If
Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause or Executive terminates voluntarily for Good Reason and
the termination is in Connection with a Change of Control, then, subject to Section 8, Executive will receive: (i) continued
payment of Executive’s Base Salary for the year in which the termination occurs (subject to applicable tax withholdings), for
twelve (12) months, such amounts to be paid in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll policies; (ii) the payment in an
amount equal to 100% of Executive’s Target Annual Incentive for the year in which the termination occurs (subject to applicable
tax withholdings), such amounts to be paid in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll policies over the course of twelve
(12) months; (iii) 100% of Executive’s then outstanding unvested Equity Awards will vest, and (iv) reimbursement for premiums
paid for continued health benefits for Executive (and any eligible dependents) under the Company’s health plans until the earlier
of (A) twelve (12) months, payable when such premiums are due (provided Executive validly elects to continue coverage under
COBRA), or (B) the date upon which Executive and Executive’s eligible dependents become covered under similar plans.

ix.Resignation Other than for Good Reason or Termination for Cause. If Executive resigns other than for Good
Reason or is terminated for Cause by the Company, then, except as provided in Section 6, (i) all further vesting of Executive’s
outstanding Equity Awards will terminate immediately and stock options shall be exercisable as provided in Section 6; (ii) all
payments of compensation by the Company to Executive hereunder will terminate immediately, and (iii) Executive will be
eligible for severance benefits only in accordance with the Company’s then established plans.

x.Termination as a Result of Death or Disability. In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated due to
death or Disability, twenty-five percent (25%) of Executive’s then unvested Equity Awards shall vest.

8. Conditions to Receipt of Severance: No Duty to Mitigate.

xi.Separation Agreement and Release of Claims. The receipt of any severance or other benefits pursuant to Section 7
will be subject to Executive signing and not revoking a separation agreement and release of claims in a form acceptable to the
Company and provided that such release of claims becomes effective and irrevocable no later than sixty (60) days following the
termination date (such deadline, the “Release Deadline”). The Company shall deliver the Release to Executive within five (5)
business days after the date of termination. No severance or other benefits pursuant



to Section 7 will be paid or provided until the separation agreement and release of claims becomes effective and irrevocable. If
the separation agreement and release of claims does not become effective by the Release Deadline, Executive will forfeit any
rights to severance or benefits under this Agreement. Any severance payments or benefits under this Agreement that would be
considered Deferred Compensation Severance Benefits (as defined in Section 24), will be paid on, or, in the case of installments,
will not commence until, the sixtieth (60™") day following Executive’s “separation from service”, or, if later, such time as required
by Section 24. Any installment payments that would have been made to Executive during the sixty (60) day period immediately
following Executive’s “separation from service” but for the preceding sentence will be paid to Executive on the sixtieth (60™) day
following Executive’s “separation from service” and the remaining payments will be made as provided in this Agreement. If
Executive should die before all of the severance amounts have been paid, such unpaid amounts will be paid in a lump-sum
payment promptly following such event to Executive’s designated beneficiary, if living, or otherwise to the personal
representative of Executive’s estate.

xii.Non-solicitation and Non-competition. The receipt of any severance or other benefits pursuant to Section 7 is
subject to Executive agreeing that during the Employment Term and for twelve (12) months thereafter, Executive will comply
with all of the restrictive covenants contained in the Confidential Information Agreement (as defined in Section 12 below),
including without limitation, the non-compete, non-solicitation of employees and non-solicitation of customers covenants
contained in Section 5 of the Confidential Information Agreement.

xiii.Nondisparagement. During the Employment Term and for twelve (12) months thereafter, Executive and the
Company in its official communications will not knowingly and materially disparage, criticize, or otherwise make any derogatory
statements regarding the other. The Company will instruct its officers and directors to not knowingly and materially disparage,
criticize, or otherwise make any derogatory statements regarding Executive. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained in
this agreement will be deemed to restrict Executive, the Company or any of the Company’s current or former officers and/or
directors from providing factual information to any governmental or regulatory agency (or in any way limit the content of any
such information) to the extent they are requested or required to provide such information pursuant to applicable order, subpoena,
law or regulation.

xiv.Other Requirements. Executive’s receipt of continued severance payments pursuant to Section 7 will be subject to
Executive continuing to comply with the terms of the Confidential Information Agreement and the provisions of this Section 8, to
the extent consistent with Section 409A (as defined below).

xv.No Duty to Mitigate. Executive will not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment contemplated by this
Agreement, nor will any earnings that Executive may receive from any other source reduce any such payment.

9. Excise Tax. In the event that the benefits provided for in this Agreement constitute “parachute payments” within
the meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and will be subject to the excise
tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then Executive’s severance benefits payable under the terms of this
Agreement will be either (a) delivered in full, or (b) delivered as to such lesser extent which would result in no portion of such
severance benefits being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing



amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local income taxes and the Excise Tax, results in the receipt
by Executive on an after[|tax basis, of the greatest amount of severance benefits. Any reduction in payments and/or benefits
required by this Section 9 will occur in the following order: (1) reduction of cash payments; (2) reduction of vesting acceleration
of equity awards; and (3) reduction of other benefits paid or provided to Executive. In the event that acceleration of vesting of
equity awards is to be reduced, such acceleration of vesting will be cancelled in the reverse order of the date of grant for
Executive’s equity awards. If two or more equity awards are granted on the same date, each award will be reduced on a pro-rata
basis.

10. Definitions.
xvi.Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” will mean:

e. Acts or omissions constituting gross negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct on the part of
Executive with respect to Executive’s obligations under this Agreement or otherwise relating to the business of the Company, or
failure or refusal, after written notice thereof from the CEO and an opportunity to cure of at least 10 business days, to carry out
lawful directions from the CEO with respect to Executive’s obligations under this Agreement or otherwise relating to the business
of the Company;

f. Any act of personal dishonesty taken by Executive in connection with his responsibilities as an
employee of the Company with the intention or reasonable expectation that such action may result in the substantial personal
enrichment of Executive;

g. Executive’s conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere to, a felony that the Board reasonably
believes has had or will have a material detrimental effect on the Company’s reputation or business;

h. A breach of any fiduciary duty owed to the Company by Executive that has a material detrimental
effect on the Company’s reputation or business;

i. Executive being found liable in any Securities and Exchange Commission or other civil or criminal
securities law action or entering any cease and desist order with respect to such action (regardless of whether or not Executive
admits or denies liability);

j. Executive (A) obstructing or impeding; (B) endeavoring to obstruct, impede or improperly
influence, or (C) failing to materially cooperate with, any investigation authorized by the Board or any governmental or self-
regulatory entity (an “Investigation”). However, Executive’s failure to waive attorney-client privilege relating to communications
with Executive’s own attorney in connection with an Investigation will not constitute “Cause”; or

k. Executive’s disqualification or bar by any governmental or self-regulatory authority from serving in
the capacity contemplated by this Agreement or Executive’s loss of any governmental or self-regulatory license that is reasonably
necessary for Executive to perform his responsibilities to the Company under this Agreement, if (A) the disqualification, bar or
loss continues for more than thirty (30) days, and (B) during that period the Company uses its good faith efforts to cause the
disqualification or bar to be lifted or the license replaced. While any disqualification, bar or loss continues during Executive’s
employment, Executive will serve in the capacity contemplated by this Agreement to whatever extent legally permissible and, if
Executive’s



employment is not permissible, Executive will be placed on leave (which will be paid to the extent legally permissible).

xvii.Change of Control. For purposes of this Agreement, “Change of Control” will mean the occurrence of any of the
following events:

l. The consummation by the Company of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other
corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding
immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of
the surviving entity) more than 50% of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation;

m. The approval by the stockholders of the Company, or if stockholder approval is not required,
approval by the Board, of a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or disposition by the
Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; or

n. Any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended), other than Goldman Sachs and its related funds and entities, becoming the “beneficial owner” (as defined in
Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 50% or more of the total voting
power represented by the Company’s then outstanding voting securities.

xviii.Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” will mean Executive’s absence from his responsibilities
with the Company on a full-time basis for 120 calendar days in any consecutive twelve (12) month period as a result of
Executive’s mental or physical illness or injury.

xix.In_Connection with a Change of Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a termination of Executive’s
employment with the Company is “in Connection with a Change of Control” if Executive’s employment is terminated within
three (3) months prior to the execution of an agreement that results in a Change of Control or twelve (12) months following a
Change of Control.

xx.Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” means Executive’s voluntary resignation of
employment because of the existence of any of the following reasons and which reason(s) continue following the expiration of
any cure period (as discussed below), without Executive’s written consent:

0. A material reduction without his consent of the Executive's title, authority, duties, or
responsibilities from those in effect immediately prior to the reduction, or an adverse change in the Executive's reporting
responsibilities; provided however, a sale, separation or spin-off of a portion of the Company’s business operations, provided the
Company remains a going concern and provided Executive’s duties, position and responsibilities with respect to the remaining
business operations are not materially reduced will also not be considered a basis for Good Reason resignation;

p. A material reduction in Executive’s cash compensation (either Base Salary, or Base Salary and
Annual Incentive Target combined) as in effect immediately prior to such



reduction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a one[]Jtime reduction that also is applied to other similarly situated executive officers
of the Company and which one[Jtime reduction reduces the cash compensation by a percentage reduction of 10% or less in the
aggregate will not be deemed material and will not constitute “Good Reason”;

g. A failure by the Company to require any successor entity to the Company specifically to assume all
of the Company's obligations to the Executive under this Agreement;

r. A material change in the geographic location from which Executive must perform services (that is,
a requirement that Executive re-locate his permanent residence from his then-current location or travel for business more than 10
calendar days each month); or

s. A material breach by the Company (or its successor) of any material contractual obligation owed
Executive pursuant to this Agreement (including, without limitation, the failure of the Company to obtain the assumption of this
Agreement by a successor) that is not cured following notice and a reasonable cure period as provided below.

Executive will not resign for Good Reason without first providing the Company with written notice within thirty
(30) days of the event that Executive believes constitutes “Good Reason” specifically identifying the acts or omissions
constituting the grounds for Good Reason and a reasonable cure period of not less than thirty (30) days.

11. Indemnification. Subject to applicable law, Executive will be provided indemnification to the maximum extent
permitted by the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and an Indemnification Agreement between Executive and
Company of even date herewith (the “Indemnification Agreement”). Executive will be provided directors and officers insurance
coverage, on terms no less favorable than provided to any other Company executive officer or director.

12.  Confidential Information. Executive will execute or if previously executed hereby re-affirms the form of At-Will
Employment, Confidential Information, Inventions Assignment and Arbitration Agreement, appended hereto as Exhibit A (the
“Confidential Information Agreement”). In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of
the Confidential Information Agreement, this Agreement will prevail.

13.  Assignment. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal
representatives of Executive upon Executive’s death, and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company
will be deemed substituted for the Company under the terms of this Agreement for all purposes. For this purpose, “successor”
means any person, firm, corporation, or other business entity which at any time, whether by purchase, merger, or otherwise,
directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company. None of the rights of Executive to
receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to this Agreement may be assigned or transferred except by will or the laws
of descent and distribution. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance, or other disposition of Executive’s right to
compensation or other benefits will be null and void. This Section 13 will in no way prevent Executive from transferring any
vested property he owns.



14. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications called for hereunder will be in writing and will
be deemed given (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally; (b) one (1) day after being sent overnight by a well-
established commercial overnight service, or (c) four (4) days after being mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested, prepaid and addressed to the parties or their successors at the following addresses, or at such other addresses as the
parties may later designate in writing:

If to the Company:

1465 North Scottsdale Road, Suite 400
Scottsdale, Arizona 85257

Attn: Vice President of Human Resources

With Copy to:

1465 North Scottsdale Road, Suite 400
Scottsdale, Arizona 85257
Attn: Vice President, Legal

If to Executive:
at the last residential address known by the Company.

15. Severability. If any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal,
unenforceable, or void, this Agreement will continue in full force and effect without said provision.

16.  Arbitration. The parties agree that any and all disputes arising out of the terms of this Agreement, Executive’s
employment by the Company, Executive’s service as an officer or director of the Company, or Executive’s compensation and
benefits, their interpretation and any of the matters herein released, will be subject to binding arbitration in accordance with the
terms of section 12 of the Confidential Information Agreement. The Parties further agree that the prevailing party in any
arbitration will be entitled to injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the arbitration award. The parties
hereby agree to waive their right to have any dispute between them resolved in a court of law by a judge or jury. This
paragraph will not prevent either party from seeking injunctive relief (or any other provisional remedy) from any court having
jurisdiction over the Parties and the subject matter of their dispute relating to Executive’s obligations under this Agreement and
the Confidential Information Agreement.

17. Integration. This Agreement, together with the Confidential Information Agreement, the Indemnification
Agreement between the Company and Executive and the forms of equity award agreements that describe Executive’s outstanding
Equity Awards, represents the entire agreement and understanding between the parties as to the subject matter herein and
supersede all prior or contemporaneous agreements, whether written or oral. No waiver, alteration, or modification of any of the
provisions of this Agreement will be binding unless in a writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of the parties
hereto. In entering into this Agreement, no party has relied on or made any representation, warranty, inducement, promise, or
understanding that is not in this Agreement. To the extent that any provisions of this Agreement conflict with those of any other
agreement to be signed upon Executive’s hire, the terms in this Agreement will prevail.
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18.  Waiver of Breach. The waiver of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement, which must be in writing,
will not operate as or be construed to be a waiver of any other previous or subsequent breach of this Agreement.

19. Survival. The Confidential Information Agreement and the Company’s and Executive’s responsibilities under
Sections 6, 7, 8, 11 and 12 will survive the termination of this Agreement.

20. Headings. All captions and Section headings used in this Agreement are for convenient reference only and do not
form a part of this Agreement.

21.  Tax Withholding. All payments made pursuant to this Agreement will be subject to withholding of applicable
taxes.

22, Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the state of Arizona without regard to its conflict
of laws provisions.

23.  Acknowledgment. Executive acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain
advice from his private attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of this
Agreement, and is knowingly and voluntarily entering into this Agreement.

24, Code Section 409A.

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no severance payable to Executive, if any,
pursuant to this Agreement, when considered together with any other severance payments or separation benefits that are
considered nonqualified deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code and the final regulations and any guidance
promulgated thereunder (“Section 409A”) (together, the “Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits”) will be payable until
Executive has a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if Executive is a “specified employee” within the
meaning of Section 409A at the time of Executive’s termination (other than due to death), then the Deferred Compensation
Separation Benefits that are payable within the first six (6) months following Executive’s separation from service, will become
payable on the first payroll date that occurs on or after the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of Executive’s
separation from service. All subsequent Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits, if any, will be payable in accordance with
the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if Executive dies
following Executive’s separation from service but prior to the six (6) month anniversary of the separation, then any payments
delayed in accordance with this paragraph will be payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively practicable after the date of
Executive’s death and all other Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits will be payable in accordance with the payment
schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Each payment and benefit payable under this Agreement is intended to
constitute separate payments for purposes of Section 1.409A-2(b)(2) of the Treasury Regulations.
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(c) Any amount paid under this Agreement that satisfies the requirements of the “short-term deferral” rule set
forth in Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) of the Treasury Regulations will not constitute Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits for
purposes of clause (i) above.

(d) Any amount paid under this Agreement that qualifies as a payment made as a result of an involuntary
separation from service pursuant to Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii) of the Treasury Regulations that do not exceed the Section 409A
Limit will not constitute Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits for purposes of clause (i) above. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Section 409A Limit” will mean the lesser of two (2) times: (i) Executive’s annualized compensation based upon
the annual rate of pay paid to Executive during the Company’s taxable year preceding the Company’s taxable year of
Executive’s termination of employment as determined under Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii)(A)(1) and any Internal
Revenue Service guidance issued with respect thereto; or (ii) the maximum amount that may be taken into account under a
qualified plan pursuant to Section 401(a)(17) of the Code for the year in which Executive’s employment is terminated.

(e) The foregoing provisions are intended to comply with the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the
severance payments and benefits to be provided hereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and
any ambiguities herein will be interpreted to so comply. The Company and Executive agree to work together in good faith to
consider amendments to this Agreement and to take such reasonable actions which are necessary, appropriate or desirable to
avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition prior to actual payment to Executive under Section 409A.

25. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, and each counterpart will have the same force and
effect as an original and will constitute an effective, binding agreement on the part of each of the undersigned.

26.  Attorney’s Fees. If, in any action at law or in equity, it is necessary to enforce or interpret any of the terms of this
Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and necessary disbursements in addition to
any other relief that such party may be entitled.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has executed this Agreement, in the case of the Company by a duly
authorized officer, as of the day and year written below.

COMPANY:

LIMELIGHT NETWORKS, INC.

/s/ Robert A. Lento Date: July 7, 2020
Robert A. Lento, CEO
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EXECUTIVE:

/s/ Dan Boncel Date: July 7, 2020
Dan Boncel

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO BONCEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT]
Exhibit A
FORM OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AGREEMENT

(ALREADY IN EMPLOYMENT FILE)
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Robert A. Lento, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Limelight Networks, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(o) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 20, 2020 By: /s/  ROBERT A. LENTO
Name: Robert A. Lento
Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Daniel R. Boncel, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Limelight Networks, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(o) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 20, 2020 By: /s/  DANIEL R. BONCEL
Name: Daniel R. Boncel
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Robert A. Lento, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
quarterly report of Limelight Networks, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such quarterly report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of Limelight Networks, Inc.

Date: July 20, 2020 By: /s/  ROBERT A. LENTO
Name: Robert A. Lento
Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Limelight Networks, Inc. and will be retained by, Limelight
Networks, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. This certification “accompanies” the Form 10-Q to
which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the
Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the
Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Daniel R. Boncel, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
quarterly report of Limelight Networks, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such quarterly report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of Limelight Networks, Inc.

Date: July 20, 2020 By: /s/  DANIEL R. BONCEL
Name: Daniel R. Boncel
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Limelight Networks, Inc. and will be retained by, Limelight
Networks, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. This certification “accompanies” the Form 10-Q to
which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the
Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the
Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



